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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

-Translation-
March 26, 2025
Subject : Invitation to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders through electronic meeting (E-AGM)
To : The shareholders of The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Enclosures

1. Objectives and rationale of the Board of Directors’ opinions to facilitate shareholders’
considerations

2. Financial Summary from the annual registration statement /the 2024 Annual Report (Form 56-1
One Report)

3. Profiles of the nominated candidates to replace directors who retired by rotation and the
qualification of the Company’s independent director (3.1 - 3.5)

4. Details of the independent directors proposed as proxy holders (in the event that an independent
director is appointed as a proxy holder)

5. The Company’s Articles of Association concerning the Shareholders’ Meeting
6. Form for Submitting Question in Advance for the 2025 AGM via Electronic Media (E-AGM)

7. QR Code Downloading Procedures for the annual registration statement / the 2024 Annual
Report (Form 56-1 One Report)

8. Three types of Proxy Forms (Form A, B, and C), according to the announcement of Department
of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550 and as amended and P.O. Box
Envelope (in case of returning the form by post)

9. Documents and evidence that attendees have to identity proofing before joining the 2025 AGM
through Electronic Media (E-AGM) and procedure for proxy granting, registration and voting.

10. Manual to Attend the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for year 2025 and voting through
Electronic means (E-AGM) by IR PLUS AGM Application

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of The One Enterprise Public Company Limited (“the Company”)
has resolved to invite all shareholders to attend the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (“the Meeting”)
which will be convened on Monday, April 28, 2025, at 2.00 p.m., through electronic media (E-Meeting / E-AGM)
only, in compliance with the Emergency Decree on Electronic Meeting B.E. 2563 (2020) and other related laws
and regulations, to consider the following agenda items:

Agenda 1 To acknowledge the declaration of the 2024 operational results and the Company’s Annual Report

The Board’s opinion: The Board was deemed appropriate to report the Company’s operational results and
submit the 2024 Annual Report to the Meeting for acknowledgment.

Agenda 2 To approve the Statements of Financial Position and the Comprehensive Income Statements for
the fiscal year ending 31st December 2024.
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The Board’s opinion:

The Board proposed to the Meeting to approve the Company’s Statement of Financial
Position and the Comprehensive Income Statement for the fiscal year ended December
31st, 2024, which were reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee, and were duly
audited and certified by the certified public accountant.

Agenda 3 To approve the apportionment as statutory reserve fund from the 2024 operational results.

The Board’s opinion:

The Board proposed to the Meeting to approve the appropriation of net profit as statutory
reserve fund at the rate of 5 percent of the net profit the year 2024 ending December
31, 2024 of separate financial statements, the company had a total net profit of Baht
529,706,591.32 .Therefore, the Company must statutory reserve of net profit the total
amount of legal reserve is Baht 26,485,329.57. In order to comply with the Clause 51
of the Company’s Articles of Association and Section 116 of the Public Limited
Companies Act B.E.2535 (and its amendment).

Agenda 4 To approve the dividend payment for the 2024 operational results.

The Board’s opinion:

The Board agreed to propose to the Meeting to approve the dividend payment for the
2024 operational results at the rate of 0.17 Baht per share to the shareholders of
2,381,250,000 shares or totaling Baht 404,812,500, equivalent to 94.98% of the
Consolidate' s net profit from operating activities, ending December 31, 2024. Since,
the Company already paid interim dividend at the rate of 0.08 Baht per share, totaling
approximately 190,500,000 Baht to shareholders on September 20, 2024. Therefore,
the remaining dividends that the Company must be paid additionally at the rate of 0.09
baht per share or approximately 214,312,500 Baht. The Record Date to entitle rightful
shareholders who may receive the dividend will be on May 7, 2025 and the payment of
the dividend will be made on May 26, 2025.

The dividend paid at the rate of 0.09 baht per share will be paid from net profit (after tax)
for the last six months of 2024 years. (from July,1 2024 - December 31, 2024) according
to the separate financial statements which is net profit and profit from dividends which
was paid from subsidiaries divided. The dividend for the operating results of 2024, which
is paid additionally at the rate of 0.09 baht per share, is paid from retained earnings (not
yet allocated) as of December 31, 2024, according to the financial statements of the
specific business that have been subject to corporate income tax at the rate of 20
percent, in which individual shareholders will receive a tax credit in calculating dividend
tax in accordance with Section 47 bis of the Revenue CodeCode

Agenda 5 To approve the appointment of directors in place of those who are due to retire by rotation for the
year 2025.

The Board’s opinion:

The Board (except those retired directors who have conflicts of interest in this agenda)
has been carefully scrutinized, cautious to the appropriateness. This is to ensure that
the persons nominated for this time are qualified for the Company's business operation.
According to the opinion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, therefore
resolved to proposed to the Meeting to endorse the appointment of directors who are
due to retire by rotation namely (1) Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit, (2) Mrs. Duangmanee
Sukhum (3) Mrs. Piya Sosothikul and (4) Mr. Rafah Damrongchaitham as the
Company’s directors for another term (Profiles of those 4 candidates and the
qualification of the Company’s independent director are described in Enclosure 3.1 -
3.5).
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Agenda 6 To approve the remunerations of the Board of Directors and subcommittees for the year 2025.

The Board’s opinion: The Board proposed that the Meeting approve the Board of Director and subcommittee’s
remuneration for the year 2025 consist of (1) monthly remuneration (paid to the Board
of Directors and the Audit Committee for a monthly basis at the specified rate), (2)
Meeting Allowance per meeting (paid to directors and sub-committees, according to the
actual attendance per meeting basis at the specified rate) and (3) the annual bonus for
the year 2025 which is paid to company directors in the amount not exceeding baht
10,000,000 (allocated according to the criteria and details specified).

Agenda 7 To approve the appointment of the auditors and the determination of the audit fee for the year 2025.

The Board’s opinion: The Board proposed that the Meeting appoint EY Office Limited as the Company’s auditor
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2025, and that any one of the individuals below be
responsible for reviewing or audit and provide an opinion on the financial statements of the
Company,namely (1) Ms.Yuchira Tuaton CPA No.10725 or (2) Mr.Kitti Teachakasembundit
CPA No. 9151 or (3) Ms. Sineenart Jirachaikhuankhan CPA No. 6287 Or (4) Mrs. Poonnard
Paocharoen CPA No0.5238 In addition, the Meeting is proposed to approve the audit fee of
the Company for the year 2025 at the amount of not exceeding 1,350,000 Baht, which is the
same rate as the previous year.

Agenda 8 Other matters. (if any)
The Board’s opinion: The Board deemed it appropriate to include this agenda so as to comply with the section

105 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E.2535 (as amended) specifying that
shareholders holding shares amounting not less than one-third of the total number of
paid-up shares are qualified to ask the Meeting to consider any matter other than those
set out in the invitation letter. Additionally, this agenda is also set for shareholders who
wish to ask any further questions or provide any other opinions (if any). However,
according to the Principles of Corporate Governance of Listed Company issued by
Thai Institute of Directors (I0D) and AGM Checklist of Thai Investors Association, it is
not recommended to add any other agendas that are not specified in the invitation letter
to the Meeting to approve or vote.

In this regard, the Company specifies the names of shareholders for the rights to attend and vote at
the 2025 AGM shall be recorded on March 12, 2025 (Record Date). The company would like to invite the
shareholders to attend the meeting. via electronic media at the aforementioned date and time at the same time.

In the event that shareholders are unable to attend the meeting , able to grant a proxy to the
Company’s independent directors (Enclosure 4.) instead of attending the Meeting in person to vote on
Shareholders’ behalf according to the proxy form by sending a proxy that shows the desire to vote (Recommend
to use the Proxy Form B (Enclosure 8)). To do so, please complete the Proxy From B and give all vote instructions,
and submit it along with accompanying documents for proxy appointment in the envelope enclosed with the Notice
(No stamp needed) to the Company by April 24, 2025. (Please study the details of documents and evidence that
attendees have to identity proofing before joining the 2025 AGM through Electronic Media (E-AGM) and procedure
for proxy granting, registration and voting (Enclosure 9)).

If any shareholder wishes to grant a proxy to another person instead of attending the Meeting in
person to vote on shareholders’ behalf. Please fill in the details and sign the Proxy Form A or Form B either.
(Enclosure 8) to be complete , foreign shareholders which appoints a custodian in Thailand to be a stock
depository and keeper, please use one of the Proxy Form A or Form B or Form C (Custodian). (Enclosure 8) with
a 20 baht stamp duty attached.
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If shareholder wish to attend the meeting by yourself or appoint a proxy and to vote through electronic
means (E-AGM), please study the Manual to Attend the Annual General Meetingof Shareholders for year 2025
and Voting through Electronic Means (E-AGM) by IR PLUS AGM Application in the enclosed document (Enclosure
10)

For preparation in advance of the meeting, the Company will activate the E-AGM system to allow the
shareholders or their proxies to verify their identity as from 9.00 hrs. on April 10, 2025 until 17.00 hrs. on April
25,2025. The shareholders or their proxies may log-in IR Plus AGM Application to attend the meeting on April
28,2025 as from 13.00 hrs. onwards.

The Company recommends Shareholders and/or Proxy holder to study the conditions and methods
of registration procedure to attend the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the year 2025 via electronic
media (E-AGM) and submit all relevant documents that require to identity proofing for receiving individual as
detailed in enclosure 9).The system access manual, together with study vote casting procedure as detail in
enclosure 10).

For shareholders to receive the greatest benefit at the Meeting and fully protect the rights as a
shareholder, should you have any queries that you would like the Company to clarify on any agenda, you can
send the questions prior to the Meeting, please sending Form for Submitting Question in Advance for the 2025
AGM via Electronic Media (E-AGM) to the company secretary via email: cs@onee.one by April 24, 2025,as
detailed in Enclosure 6.

To provide the shareholders’ convenience in accessing the above information, the entire set of
documents related to the Invitation of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders via Electronic Media
(E-AGM), together with the proxy forms and all related documents, including document download on the
Company’s website (www.theoneenterprise.com), both in Thai and English, March 26, 2025 onwards, The 2024
Annual Report (Form 56-1 One report) shall be publicized on the Company’s website prior to the meeting date,
not less than 28 days.

Please be informed accordingly.

Yours Faithfully,

(Mr. Paiboon Damrongchaitham)
Chairman of the Board

By resolution of the Board

For information regarding the Shareholders’ Meeting, please contact:
Company Secretary Tel. (+662) 669 9712 or (+662) 669 9304 Email: cs@onee.one
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Enclosure 1

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Objectives and rationale of the Board of Directors’ opinions
to facilitate shareholders’ considerations

Agenda 1 To acknowledge the declaration of the 2024 operational results and the Company’s Annual
Report

The report by the Board and management with respect to the Company’s business performance
for the year 2024 ended December 31, 2024, has been produced portraying the operational results of the
Company during 2024. The Board, having considered and deemed it correct and sufficient, hereby proposes
that the Meeting acknowledge the Company’s business performance during 2024 and as contained in the 2024
Annual Report (Form 56-1 One Report). The shareholders can download from the QR Code appearing on the
“Form of the Meeting notification with QR code for downloading meeting documents, which was delivered to the
shareholders together with this Invitation Letter.

Required Resolution:

This agenda does not require any vote, as this is to inform the Meeting for acknowledgment.

Agenda 2 To approve the Statements of Financial Position and the Comprehensive Income Statements for
the fiscal year ending 31 December 2024.

In accordance with Section 112 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E.2535 (and as amended),
the Company has to prepare the latest Statement of Financial Position and the Income Statement as at the end
of the Company's fiscal year, to be presented and approved at the Annual General Meeting. The Company’s
Statement of Financial Position and the Comprehensive Income Statement for the year as of December 31,
2024, had been reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee, having considered and deemed them correct,
complete and sufficient pursuant to the generally accepted accounting standards, and was duly audited and
certified by auditors from EY Office Limited, who is the auditor of the Company. Details from the Statement of
Financial Position and the Comprehensive Income Statement as of December 31, 2024 appears in the 2024
Annual Report (Form 56-1 One Report), and a printed summary of key financial information from the 2024
Annual Report is also attached to this Invitation Letter (Enclosure 2)

Required Resolution:

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, a resolution under this agenda can be
passed with a simple majority vote of the shareholders who attend the meeting and cast the vote.

Agenda 3 To approve the apportionment as statutory reserve fund from the 2023 operational results.

According to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E.2535 (and as amended) and
the Company’s Articles of Association, Clause 51 which stated that “The Company must appropriate part of its
annual net profits to a reserve fund in an amount of not less than five (5) percent of the annual net profits with
the deduction therefrom the amount representing the accumulated loss carried forwards (if any) until this reserve
fund reaches the amount of not less than ten (10) percent of the registered capital. In addition to such reserve
fund, the board of directors may propose that the shareholders' meeting pass a resolution to allocate other
reserve funds as it is deemed to be advantage in the operation of the Company.”

At present the Company has net profit for the year 2024 ending 31 December 2024 in the
separate financial statements in the amount of Baht 529,706,591.32. Therefore, in order to comply with the law
and the Company’s Articles of Association, above, the Board of Director propose the Meeting to approve the
appropriation of net profit as statutory reserve fund at the rate of 5 percent of the net profit the year 2024 ending
December 31, 2024 of separate financial statements, totaling Baht 26,485,329.57.

Required Resolution:

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, a resolution under this agenda can be
passed with a simple majority vote of the shareholders who attend the meeting and cast the vote.
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Agenda 4 To approve the dividend payment for the 2024 operational results.

The Company has a policy paying the dividends to shareholders at a rate of not less than 40% of
the Company’s net profit from normal operation from the Company’s consolidated financial statements (after
taxes and reserves, as required by applicable laws and as determined by the Company) However, it must not
exceed the retained earnings of the Company. that appear in the separate financial statements. However,
it must not exceed the retained earnings of the Company, that appear in the separate financial statements.
According to Section 115 of the Public Act and the Company’s Articles of Association Clause 49 which stated
that “Dividends shall not be paid out of any type of funds other than out of profit. In case the Company still has
accumulated loss, no dividends shall be paid.”

In addition, The Bord of Directors agreed that the ordinary shareholder meeting should
acknowledge the Board of Directors Meeting No. 6/2024, which was held on August 23, 2024, resolved to
approve the payment of the interim dividend from the unappropriated retained earnings pursuant to the separate
financial statement as at June 30, 2024 to the shareholders of the Company, at the rate of Baht 0.08 per share,
totaling approximately Baht 190,500,000.The said dividend was paid to shareholders on September 20, 2024.

According to the Company’s performance in 2024, the company has the Net profit after income
tax expenses, ending December 31, 2024 of separate financial statements in the amount Baht 529,706,591.32.
The Board of Director agreed to propose the ordinary shareholder meeting to consider and approve the dividend
payment for the 2024 operational results at the rate of 0.17 Baht per share to the shareholders of 2,381,250,000
shares or totaling Baht 404,812,500 equivalent to 94.98% of the Consolidate’ s net profit from operating
activities, ending December 31, 2024.The rate of dividend payment for this year is higher than the rate as
prescribed in dividend policy of company.

Furthermore, the Company has already paid interim dividend at the rate of 0.08 Baht per share on
September 20, 2024. Therefore, the remaining dividends that the Company must be paid additionally at the rate
of 0.09 baht per share to the shareholders of 2,381,250,000 shares or approximately Baht 214,312,500.The
Board of Director agreed to propose the ordinary shareholder meeting to consider and approve the record date
to entitle rightful shareholders who may receive the dividend will be on May 7, 2025 and the payment of the
dividend will be made on May 26, 2025.

= Comparison of dividend payment in past two years are shown as follows:

Details of dividend payment

Separate financial statements 2024 (Proposed) 2023
Net Profits/(Loss): Million Baht 529.71 453.69
Retained Earnings/(Deficit)* : 320.32 325.07
Million Baht

Earnings/(Loss) per Share : Baht 0.22 0.19
Consolidated financial statement 2024 (Proposed) 2023
Net Profits/(Loss): Million Baht 426.23 506.57
Retained Earnings/(Deficit)* : (628.60) (504.46)
Million Baht

Earnings/(Loss) per Share : Baht 0.18 0.21
Dividend Payment (Baht per Share) 2024 (Proposed) 2023
Interim Dividends-1st 0.08 0.05
Final Dividends (Proposed) 0.09 0.13
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Total Dividends Payment (Baht per 0.17 0.18
Share)

Number of Shares (Million Share) 2,381.25 2,381.25
Total Dividend Payouts (Million 404.81 428.63
Baht)

Dividend Payout Ratio (%)

Divident Payout per Consolidated 94.98 84.61
financial statement net operating
profit (%)

Remark : *Retained Earnings/Deficits after tax and legal reserved.

The dividend paid at the rate of 0.09 baht per share will be paid from net profit (after tax) for the last
six months of 2024 years. (From July 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024) according to the separate financial
statements which is net profit and profit from dividends which was paid from subsidiaries divided

The dividend at the rate of 0.09 Baht per share which was paid from profit to receive the dividend
from subsidiaries. The said dividend has already paid the corporate income tax at rate of 20% wherein individual
shareholders shall be entitled to a Dividend Tax Credit under Section 47 Bis of the Revenue Code and

Required Resolution:

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, a resolution under this agenda can be passed
with a simple majority vote of the shareholders who attend the meeting and cast the vote.

Agenda 5 To approve the appointment of directors in place of those who are due to retire by rotation for the
year 2025.

Pursuant to the Public Act and Clause 21 of the Company’s Articles of Association, which stated
that; “At every annual general meeting, one-third (1/3) of directors at that time shall retire. If the number of
directors is not a multiple of three, then the number of directors nearest to one-third (1/3) shall be retired. The
directors to retire in the first and second years after the registration of the Company shall be selected by drawing
lots. In subsequent years, the directors having held longest shall retire. The directors retiring from office may be
re-elected.

At this 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, there are 4 directors to retire by rotation,
namely:

Name Position in the Board Position in the Sub-Committees

1. Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit Independent Director e Chairman of Risk Management
Corporate Governance and
Sustainability

e Member of the Audit Committee

e Member of Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

Enclosure 1 Page 3/8 The One Enterprise Public Company Limited




Enclosure 1

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Name Position in the Board Position in the Sub-Committees

2. Mrs. Duangmanee Sukhum Independent Director e Member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

3. Mr. Piya Sosothikul Director e Member of the Risk Management,
(Non-Executive Director) Corporate Governance and
Sustainability Committee

4. Mr.Rafah Damrongchaitham Director e Member of the Risk Management,
(Executive Director) Corporate Governance and
Sustainability Committee

e Member of the Executive Committee

With respect to the Company’s Good Corporate Governance Policy, the shareholders were given
the opportunity to nominate the names of qualified persons for being considered to be elected as directors in
advance for the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders via the Company’s website
www.theoneenterprise.com, from October 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024. However, no shareholder nominated
the qualified persons to the Company.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (the “NRC”) at the Meeting No.1/2025 held on
February 20, 2025 had deliberately considered, taking into account the individual directors’ qualifications in
various aspects based on the best interest of the Company under the policy, criteria and nomination process of
the Company (Details appear in the 2024 Annual Report (Form 56-1 One report) under the heading "7.3
Information about the subcommittees > 2. Nomination and Remuneration Committee > Scope of duties and

responsibilities of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Recruitment > 1. Nomination” (Page. 132-133)

and found that all the 4 retired directors, namely (1) Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit, (2) Mrs.Duangmanee Sukhum
(3) Mr.Piya Sosothikul and (4) Mr.Rafah Damrongchaitham are fit to work for the Company as the directors for
another term because of their qualifications that meets the requirements of the Public Act, have qualifications
suitable for the business of the company, their knowledge, abilities, experience, vision, and working
performance including their devotion and support to the Company’s business operation in the past years.

The Board of Directors has considered proposing to Directors No. (1) Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit,
and (2) Mrs. Duangmanee Sukhum to be independent directors. Due to the qualifications consistent with the
independent director definition of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Stock Exchange of
Thailand and the Company, and both of them will be able to express their opinions independently. as an
independent director and Mrs.Duangjai Lorlertwit as an audit committee throughout the past tenure have
performed their duties with responsibility caution and honesty, including compliance with the law relevant rules,
objectives and regulations of the Company, Board resolution as well as the resolutions of the shareholders'
meeting, in accordance with the relevant details of the definition of independent directors of the Company are
set out in Enclosure 3.5.

Therefore, the Board (except those 4 retired directors who have conflicts of interest in this
agenda), considered and scrutinized the suitability of the person who was nominated for this time have
qualifications suitable for the business of the company. In accordance with the opinion of the NRC above and
agreed with the NRC to propose the Meeting to endorse the appointment of the 5 afore mentioned candidates as
the Company’s directors. Their profiles and other supporting information and the qualification of the Company’s
independent directors who retired by rotation and the qualification of the Company’s independent director in
Enclosure 3.1 - 3.5.

Required Resolution:
A resolution for electing directors can be passed according to the method and procedure as

stated in Clause 20 of the Company’s Articles of Association (Enclosure 5) and a resolution under this agenda
can be passed with a simple majority vote of the shareholders who attend the meeting and cast the vote.
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Agenda 6 To approve the remunerations of the Board of Directors and subcommittees for the year 2025.

Pursuant to the Clause 33 of the Company’s Articles of Association which stated that: “The
directors shall be entitled to receive remuneration from the Company in the form of award, meeting allowance,
gratuity, bonus or benefits of other nature as considered and approved by the shareholders meeting by a vote of
not less than two-third (2/3) of the total votes of shareholders attending the meeting. The remuneration may be
fixed in a certain amount, or be specified from time to time, or be in effect until a change by a resolution of the
shareholders meeting. The directors shall also be entitled to receive per diem allowances and other fringe
benefits in accordance with the Company's regulations, the provision shall not prejudice the rights of the staff or
employees of the Company, who have been appointed as directors, to receive the remuneration or benefits as a
staff or an employee of the Company.”

For the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the NRC and the Board considered the
Board’s remuneration and the Sub-Committees’ remuneration for the year 2025 according to the Company’s the
guidelines and procedures by considering various factors in support of their determination, including the scope
of responsibilities, contributions, the work performance of the Company’s directors, business expansion,
a comparison with other companies in the same industry and similar nature of the business, as well as the report
of the 2024 Survey on Directors’ Remuneration of Listed Companies in the Stock Exchange of Thailand
conducted by Thai Institution of Directors (IOD). It was apparent that the Company’s Board of Directors’ and
Audit Committee’s remuneration was not different from the overall market average rate.

Therefore, it was deemed appropriate to propose to the Meeting to approve the Board of Directors
and Subcommittee’s remuneration for the year 2025 as follows as the followings:

=  Remuneration of the Company's Directors and committees for the year 2025 will consist of:

(using the same criteria as last year).

1. The monthly remuneration (paid to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee for a
monthly basis at the specified rate)

2. The Meeting Allowance per meeting (paid to directors and sub-committees, according to the
actual attendance per meeting basis at the specified rate)

3. The annual bonus for the year 2025 which is paid to company directors in the amount not
exceeding baht 10,000,000 (allocated according to the criteria and details specified)

Detail of the Board of Directors and Subcommittee’s remuneration for the year 2025 as follows as
the followings:

2023 2024 2025 (Proposed)
Committee / Monthly Meeting Monthly Meeting Monthly Meeting
Position Remuneration | Allowance | Remuneration | Allowance | Remuneration | Allowance
(Baht / person / (Baht / person (Baht / person / (Baht / person (Baht / person/ | (Baht/person
month) / time) month) / time) month) / time)
The Board of Directors
Chairman of the 30,000 20,000 30,000 20,000 30,000 20,000
Board
Non-Executive 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
Director
Executive Director - None - 20,000 - None - 20,000 - None - 20,000
The Sub-Committees’
The Audit Committee
Chairman 10,000 20,000 10,000 20,000 10,000 20,000
Member 5,000 20,000 5,000 20,000 5,000 20,000
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Chairman - None - 15,000 - None - 15,000 - None - 15,000
Member - None - 15,000 - None - 15,000 - None - 15,000
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The Executive Committee

Chairman - None - 10,000 - None - 10,000 - None - 10,000
Member

(non-Executive) - None - 10,000 - None - 10,000 - None - 10,000
Member(Executive) - None - - None - - None - - None - - None - - None -

The Risk Management, Corporate Governance and Sustianability Committee

Chairman - - - None - 15,000 - None - 15,000

Member

. - - - None - 15,000 - None - 15,000
(non-Executive)

Member(Executive) - - - None - - None - - None - - None -

e 2025 Annual Bonus

It is deemed appropriate to set the limit for the allocation of the 2025 annual bonus will be
paid not exceeding Baht 10,000,000, In this regard, the criteria and conditions for the

allocation of the annual bonus for the year 2025 are as follows: (using the same criteria as

last year).

1. Assign the Nomination and Remuneration Committee to consider the allocation of the
2025 annual bonus.

2. The annual bonus payment is not exceeding 0.15% of the total income according to the
annual financial statements 2025 and must not exceed the limit of 10 million baht.

3. The operating results of The One Enterprise Public Company Limited group must be
profitable.

4. Determine the payment of bonuses to the Board of Directors only. The allocation of the
annual bonus will be allocated according to the number of meetings of the Board of
Directors only. The Chairman of the Board will receive 1.5 times of his attendance.
Other Director will receive 1 time of their attendance.

e Non-Monetary Remuneration / Other Benefits: Directors and Officers Liability Insurance :
D&O limited of Baht 200 million covering all directors and officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

Details of the remuneration of Board of Directors and Subcommittee’s remuneration for the year 2024 by

individual are shown on annual information report/ the annual report year 2024 (form 56-1 one report)

Required Resolution:

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, a resolution under this agenda can be passed
with a vote of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the total votes of the shareholders attending the meeting.

Agenda 7 To approve the appointment of the auditors and the determination of the audit fee for the year
2025.

Pursuant to the Public Act and the Company’s Articles of Association Clause 57, shareholders are
responsible for the appointment of the Company’s auditors and its annual audit fee. Under the Notice of the
Capital Market Board No. Tor Chor. 75/2561 (No.14) Re: Rules, conditions, and procedures for information
disclosure relating to the financial condition and operating results of issuing companies on “Auditor Rotation”
whose key points can be summarized as follows: “Listed companies must ensure the rotation of its auditor. In
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

case the auditor has reviewed and/or audited and commented on the financial statements of the Company for
seven consecutive accounting periods, whether consecutive or not, the company will be able to appoint the
above auditor at least after the end of the next five accounting periods.”

For the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, after due consideration by the Board, with
a consent from the Audit Committee, it was deemed appropriate to re-elect EY Office Limited (“EY”) which is
certified by the Office of Securities and Exchange Commission, as the auditor of the Company for the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2025. That was because of their excellent working standard, independence and satisfied
performance during the past years. The Meeting was proposed to appoint any one of the individuals below to
be responsible for reviewing, audit, and provide an opinion on the financial statements of the Company:

As the Company’s Auditors
Name of The Company’s Auditors: CPA No.
Year Period (years)
1. Ms. Yuchira Tuaton @ or, 10725 - -
2. Mr. Kitti Teachakasembundit @ or 9151 - -
3. Ms. Sineenart Jirachaikhuankhan M or 6287 2023 1
4. Mrs. Poonnard Paocharoen @ 5238
Remarks. (1) certified in the Company'’s financial statements in 2024

(2) never certify in the Company’s financial statements

In the event that the aforementioned auditors are unable to perform their duties, EY will replace
the person with another auditor from its firm to conduct the audit works and give an opinion on the financial
statements of the Company. The auditors who certify the financial statements have no relationship in any
circumstances and have neither conflict of interest with the Company and its subsidiaries nor the management,
major shareholders or any related persons of the aforementioned.

In addition, the following auditors of EY are the auditors of the Company’s subsidiaries:
The Company’s subsidiaries’ Auditors:

1. Ms. Yuchira Tuaton CPA No. 10725 or,

2. Mr. Kitti Teachakasembundit CPA No. 9151 or,

3. Ms. Sineenart Jirachaikhuankhan CPA No. 6287 or,

4. Mrs. Poonnard Paocharoen CPA No. 5238
The Audit Fee

The Board with the consent from the Audit Committee considered and deemed it appropriate to
propose to the Meeting to approve audit fees for the year 2025 of The One Enterprise Plc. At the amount of Baht
1,350,000 (Baht one million three hundred fifty thousand), which is the same rate as the previous year. (This
amount excludes additional audit fees which may incur from future business restructuring the merger or
expansion / change of the company's business in the future or the effect of special audit (Change policy /
accounting standards)) The Board opined that the amount was appropriate and competitive to those of other
audit firms proposed to the Company.

Comparison of the audit fee of the Company between year 2023 - 2025 could be summarized as
follows:
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(Unit: Baht)
Company 2025 Audit fee % 2024 2023
(Proposed) Change Audit fee Audit fee
The One Enterprise Plc. 1,350,000 - 1,350,000 1,350,000
Non-audit service fee - None - - - None - - None -

Required Resolution:

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, a resolution under this agenda can be passed
with a simple majority vote of the shareholders who attend the meeting and cast the vote.

Agenda 8 Other matters (If any)

The Board deemed it appropriate to include this agenda to be in accordance with Section 105 of
the Public Act stating that shareholders holding not less than one-third of the total number of shares sold, may
request the meeting to consider any matter other than those specified in the meeting notice, and also for
shareholders to ask any questions or provide any opinions (if any) and/or so that the Board shall answer or give
an explanation to shareholders. Also, in case there were shareholders sent their inquiries or comments in
advance.

However, according to the Principles of Corporate Governance of Listed Company issued by
Thai Institute of Directors (IOD) and AGM Checklist of Thai Investors Association, it is not recommended to add
any other agendas that are not specified in the invitation letter to the Meeting for approval or vote casting.

Additional Facts on the Meeting Agenda

In order to comply with the Company’s Good Corporate Governance Policy, the Company has
invited all shareholders to propose agenda for the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders via the
Company’s website at www.theoneenterprise.com from October 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024. However, there
was no shareholder propose any agenda to the Company. The Board, therefore, deemed it appropriate to set

the agendas for the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders as appears in this Invitation Letter.

e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e de e e e e e de e Je e de e Je e dede de e dede de e dede e
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Opinion

| have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The ONE Enterprise Public
Company Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the related consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information,
and have also audited the separate financial statements of The ONE Enterprise Public Company
Limited (the Company) for the same period (collectively “the financial statements”).

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries, and of
The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited as at 31 December 2024, and their financial

performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards.

Basis for Opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report. | am independent of the Group in accordance with the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants including Independence Standards issued by the
Federation of Accounting Professions (Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants) that are
relevant to my audit of the financial statements, and | have fulfiled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. | believe that

the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance
in my audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the .
context of my audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and

| do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



EY
S st
I have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of my report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, my
audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to my assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of my audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis for my audit opinion on
the accompanying financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters and how audit procedures respond for each matter are described below.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue is significant to the financial statements and directly affects its operating
results, to which users of financial statements pay attention. The Group has numerous types of
revenue and it is derived through various channels, under agreements with a large number of
customers that contain a variety of conditions, pertaining to matters such as sales promotions and
discounts. In addition, changes in consumer behavior and industry trends have directly affected
the competitive environment in media and entertainment industry. There are therefore risks with

respect to the amount and timing of revenue recognition.
| have examined the revenue recognition of the Group by

e Assessing and testing the Group’s IT system and its internal controls with respect to the
revenue cycle by making enquiry of responsible executives, gaining an understanding of the

controls and selecting representative samples to test the operation of the designed controls.

o Applying a sampling method to select sales and service agreements to assess whether
revenue recognition was consistent with the conditions of the relevant agreement, and

whether it was in compliance with the Group’s policy.

¢ On a sampling basis, examining supporting documents for sales and service transactions

occurring during the year and near the end of the accounting period.
¢ Reviewing credit notes that the Group issued after the period-end.

e Performing analytical procedures on disaggregated data to detect possible irregularities in
_revenues transactions throughout the period, including accounting entries made through
journal vouchers.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

| have focused my audit on the consideration of the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives, as discussed in Notes 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
because the assessment of impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are a significant accounting estimate requiring management to exercise a high degree of
judgment in identifying the cash generating units, estimating the cash inflows that are expected to
be generated from that group of assets in the future, and setting an appropriate discount rate and
long-term growth rate. There are thus risks with respect to the amount of goodwill and intangible

assets with indefinite useful lives.

| assessed the identification of cash generating units and the financial models selected by
management by gaining an understanding of management’s decision-making process and
assessing whether the decisions made were consistent with how assets are utilised. In addition,
| tested the significant assumptions applied by management in preparing estimates of the cash
flows expected to be realised from the assets, by comparing those assumptions with information
from both internal and external sources and comparing past cash flow projections to actual
operating results in order to evaluate the exercise of management judgment in estimating

the cash flow projections. I also evaluated the discount rate applied by management through
analysis of the average costs of the Company and of the industry, tested the calculation of the
realisable values of the assets using the selected financial model and considered the impact of
changes in key assumptions on those realisable values, especially changes in the discount rate.
Moreover, | reviewed the disclosures made with respect to the impairment assessment for
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the
information included in annual report of the Group, but does not include the financial statements
and my auditor’s report thereon. The annual report of the Group is expected to be made available
to me after the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and | do not express

any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.
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When | read the annual report of the Group, if | conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, | am required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance for correction

of the misstatement.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate

the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing, | exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

» |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, | am required to
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. | am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. | remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that | identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine these matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. | describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
| determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits

of such communication.

| am responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report.

Sineenart Jirachaikhuankhan
Certified Public Accountant (Thailand) No. 6287

EY Office Limited
Bangkok: 21 February 2025
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2024

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Short-term loans to subsidiaries
Inventories

Advance payments

Other current financial assets
Other current assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Long-term loans to subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries
Investment in joint venture
Investment in associate
Property, plant and equipment
Cost of spectrum license
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets

Total assets

=
=]
=
(o]

© o o N

10
11

12
13

14
15
16
17
26
18

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024

1,693,305,320
1,274,213,211
755,964,467
108,573,747
155,000,000
117,463,104

2023

1,589,597,950
1,689,975,628
642,914,826
100,171,733
161,988,184
178,612,977

2024

954,024,018
499,053,677

155,000,000
9,265,444

2023

953,214,807
667,691,118
960,500,000
5,420,000
155,000,000
9,694,824

4,104,519,849

4,363,261,298

1,617,343,139

2,751,420,749

1,148,500,000
5,214,337,374

5,218,976,255

45,545,752 38,358,228 - -
7,233,789 9,284,996 1,499,900 1.499‘,900
754,986,340 745,223,416 14,294,955 25,636,644
584,025,768 719,840,095 - -
1,636,142,732 1,636,142,732 - -
1,610,353,647 1,415,622,083 45,356,282 37,840,579
128,857,214 128,619,296 14,269,970 23,677,117
564,171,521 543,999,637 30,186,941 36,250,978
5,131,316,763 5,136,990,493 6,468,445,422 5,343,881,473
9,235,836,612 9,500,251,791 8,085,788,561 8,095,302,222

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of financial position (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Unearned income
Current portion of long-term loans
Current portion of lease liabilities
Income tax payable
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities, net of current portion
Provision for long-term employee benefits
Deferred tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Registered
2,381,250,000 ordinary shares of Baht 2 each
Issued and fully paid
2,381,250,000 ordinary shares of Baht 2 each
Ordinary share premium
Retain earnings
Appropriated - statutory reserve
Unappropriated (deficit)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries
Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

Z
(]
=y
[]

21

20

21
22
26

23

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
1,322,125,841 1,337,676,302 28,620,556 61,053,375
302,502,229 460,257,438 3,560,000 3,560,000
- 892,543 - -
45,461,551 81,107,602 2,433,284 6,949,520
9,405,777 8,826,911 - -
181,501,119 198,426,752 28,515,257 29,739,149
1,860,996,517 2,087,187,548 63,128,097 101,302,044
51,117,567 24,040,313 - 2,433,284
227,781,981 196,635,589 32,524,963 23,170,745
54,212,120 57,911,588 - ‘ -
333,111,668 278,587,490 32,524,963 25,604,029
2,194,108,185 2,365,775,038 95,654,060 126,906,073

4,762,500,000

4,762,500,000

4,762,500,000

4,762,500,000

4,762,500,000
2,817,115,250

90,201,112
(628,598,003)

4,762,500,000
2,817,115,250

63,715,783
(504,463,515)

4,762,500,000
2,817,115,250

90,201,112
320,318,139

4,762,500,000
2,817,115,250

63,715,783

7,041,218,359
510,068

7,138,867,518
(4,390,765)

7,990,134,501

325,065,116
7.968,396,149

7,041,728,427

7,134,476,753

7,990,134,501

7,968,396,149

9,235,836,612

9,500,251,791

8,085,788,561

8,095,302,222

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Profit or loss:

Revenues

Sales of goods

Service income

Revenues from copyrights

Dividend income

Other income

Total revenues

Expenses

Cost of sales

Cost of services

Selling and servicing expenses

Administrative expenses

Total expenses

Profit from operations

Share of loss from investments in
joint ventures and associate

Finance income

Finance cost

Profit before income tax expenses

Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Actuarial loss - net of income tax

Share of other comprehensive income from investments
in joint ventures and associate

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests of the subsidiaries

Basic earnings per share

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

(Unit: Baht)
Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements
Note 2024 2023 2024 2023
24 422,547,243 329,692,577 - -
24 5,098,078,629 5,114,022,910 294,530,889 304,296,387
24 1,089,298,574 988,491,572 21,272,837 41,173,881
6 - - 470,160,333 408,425,798
59,324,356 82,687,763 145,076 1,113,269
6,669,248,802 6,514,894,822 786,109,135 755,009,335
171,850,103 137,410,754 - -
3,868,516,897 3,774,207,316 10,569,212 41,928,633
423,973,126 400,973,599 4,761,509 13,629,751
1,695,283,586 1,561,726,269 264,230,790 257,948,343
6,159,623,712 5,874,317,938 279,561,511 313,506,727
509,625,090 640,576,884 506,547,624 441,502,608
(7,749,970) (2,393,652) - -
31,708,913 18,599,615 34,849,233 20,916,494
(3,701,033) (7,440,923) (306,293) (622,292)
529,883,000 649,341,924 541,090,564 461,796,810
26 (103,654,565) (142,773,172) (11,383,971) (8,104,339)
426,228,435 506,568,752 529,706,593 453,692,471
(18,595,000) - (7,907,295) -
(13,714) - - -
(18,608,714) - (7,907,295) -
407,619,721 506,568,752 521,799,298 453,692,471
421,017,067 505,092,395 529,706,593 453,692,471
5,211,368 1,476,357
426,228,435 506,568,752
402,411,787 505,092,395 521,799,298 453,692,471
5,207,934 1,476,357
407,619,721 506,568,752
27 )
0.18 0.21 0.22 0.19

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries
Cash flow statement

For the year ended 31 December 2024

(Unit: Baht)
Consolidated financial statements Separate financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 529,883,000 649,341,924 541,090,564 461,796,810
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash
provided by (paid from) operating activities:
Depreciation 181,907,795 174,448,031 13,834,933 16,690,508
Amortisation 1,144,397,688 1,117,898,723 6,329,597 19,616,763
Amortisation of cost of spectrum license 135,814,327 135,464,845 - -
Amortisation of prepayment for marketing agent 8,040,000 8,040,000 - -
Impairment loss on financial assets 45,565,704 44,359,890 . - 2,794
Impairment loss on Investment in subsidiary - - 4,638,881 8,807,122
Loss (gain) from lease agreement cancellation 232,634 (268,021) - -
Reduction of cost of inventory to net realisable value - 4,182,380 - -
Losses (gains) on disposal and write-off equipments
and intangible assets 1,851,976 2,462,051 (9,386) (610)
Share of loss from investment in joint ventures
and associate 7,749,970 2,393,652 - -
Loss on write-off withholding tax 1,809,704 2,286 - -
Long-term employee benefits expenses 25,090,985 22,858,773 2,692,333 2,786,772
Dividend income - - (470,160,333) (408,425,798)
Finance income (31,708,913) (18,599,615) (34,849,233) (20,916,494)
Finance cost 3,701,033 7,440,923 306,293 622,292
Profit from operating activities before changes
in operating assets and liabilities 2,054,335,903 2,150,025,842 63,873,649 80,980,159
Operating assets (increase) decrease
Trade and other receivables ' 370,196,713 (387,787,934) 28,788,033 (65,879,057)
Inventories (1,292,852,575)  (1,135,688,706) - 600,000
Advance payments (8,402,014) (59,065,588) 5,420,000 (5.420,000)
Other current assets 63,445,094 (30,658,234) 329,380 (5,260,289)
Other non-current assets (11,280,321) (1,432,073) (7,771) (827,768)
Operating liabilities increase (decrease)
Trade and other payables (9,409,304) 287,378,652 (25,178,607) 24,769,045
Unearned income (157,755,209) 24,252,465 - -
Other current liabilities (16,925,634) (28,301,335) (1,223,893) (1,716,084)
Long-term employee benefits paid (17,188,341) (10,622,690) (3,222,234) (2,372,570)
Cash flows from operating activities 974,164,312 808,100,399 68,778,557 24,873,436
Interest paid (3,701,033) (7,440,923) (306,293) (1,019,331)
Income tax paid (181,341,580) (202,955,099) (10,655,872) (8,685,406)
Cash received from tax refund 57,940,757 5,286,811 16,727,682 -
Net cash from operating activities 847,062,456 602,991,188 74,544,074 15,168,699

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Cash flow statement (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash paid for acquisition of buliding and equipment
Cash paid for acquisition of intangible assets
Increase in short-term loans to subsidiaries
Increase in long-term loans to subsidiaries
Decrease in other current financial assets
Decrease in other non-current financial assets
Net cash paid for investment in subsidiary
Net cash paid for investment in joint ventures
Proceeds from sales of equipment and intangible asset
Interest received
Dividend received
Net cash from (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in bank overdrafts
Decrease in short-term loan from subsidiary
Repayment of long-term loan
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Dividend paid
Dividend payment from subsidiaries to non-controlling interest
Cash paid to non-controlling interest to
acquire investment in subsidiary
Proceeds from non-controlling interest from investing in subsidiary
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental cash flows information:
Non-cash transactions:
Increase (decrease) in payables for purchase of equipment
Increase (decrease) in payables for purchase
of intangible assets
Increase in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
Inventories were transferred to intangible assets
Reclassify short-term loans to subsidiaries to long-term loans
to subsidiaries

Decrease in dividend receivables

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit; Baht)

Separate financial statements

2024

(113,911,121)
(69,740,762)

2023

(104,046,263)
(111,241,983)

2024

(2,718,613)
(20,907,300)

(188,000,000)

2023

(8,332,403)
(32,551,974)
(55,000,000)

6,988,184 238,011,816 - 245,000,000
- 200,000 - .
. - - (1,999,800)
(12,900,000) (41,847,292) - -
580,864 1,038,916 42,543 935
31,708,913 18,599,615 34,574,654 20,493,255
- 2,499,833 610,284,319 453,485,794
(157,273,922) 3,214,642 433,275,603 621,095,807
- (6,191,255) - -
- - - (160,000,000)
(892,543) (2,517,459) - -
(84,820,574) (77,923,343) (6,949,520) (5,975,805)
(500,060,945) (500,057,016) (500,060,946) (500,057,016)
(191,101) (151,846)° - -
(116,000) (800) . .
- 200 - -
(586,081,164) (586,841,519) (507,010,466) (666,032,821)
103,707,370 19,364,311 809,211 (29,768,315)
1,589,597,950  1,570,233,639 953,214,807 982,983,122
1,693,305,320  1,589,597,950 954,024,018 953,214,807
4,164,156 (28,358,161) (192,212) (3,534,044)
(10,305,313) (70,277,520) (7,062,000) 7,062,000
76,374,392 15,766,972 - 559,204
1,179,802,934  1,135,552,689 - -
. - 1,148,500,000 -
- - 140,123,986 45,090,996

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes to financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

1.1

1.2

1.3

General information
Corporate information

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited (“the Company”) is a public company
incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the
Group”) are principally engaged in digital TV, radio, production of content, production of
advertising media, rent advertising space, sublease television station, artist management,
studio rental service, sales of goods and investment in other business. The registered office
of the Company is at 50 Sukhumvit 21 (Asoke), Klongtoey Nua, Wattana, Bangkok.

Digital TV Business

One 31 Company Limited (“One 31"), a subsidiary, has received a license to use the spectrum
to provide terrestrial digital television service in the type of national commercial service (“License -
agreement”) for General (Variety) high-definition category from the National Broadcasting and
Telecommunications Commission (‘“NBTC”). License agreement allowed a period of 15 years
commencing on 25 April 2014 to 24 April 2029. One 31 was required to make payments for the
license under the conditions specified by the NBTC and by the Order of the Head of the National -
Council for Peace and Order No. 4/2562 on the measure to relieve the unfavorable business
environment of the broadcasting and telecommunication operators. Furthermore, according to
the notification of the NBTC and related laws, One 31 has a duty to pay license and other fees,
and annual fee to the Broadcasting and Telecommunications Research and Development Fund
for Public Interest.

Radio Business

On 31 March 2022, GMM Media Public Company Limited (‘GMM Media”), a subsidiary, has -
received a license to use the spectrum to provide radio service in the type of regional commercial
service (‘License agreement’) from the National Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Commission (“NBTC”). License agreement allowed a period of 7 years commencing on 4 April
2022 to 3 April 2029. GMM Media fully paid the license under the conditions specified by the -
NBTC on 22 March 2022. Furthermore, according to the notification of the NBTC, GMM Media
has a duty to pay license, and annual fee to the Broadcasting and Telecommunications Research
and Development Fund for Public Interest.



2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting .
Standards enunciated under the Accounting Professions Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation
has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of
Business Development, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the -
Company. The financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai
language financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where
otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies.

Basis of consolidation

a) The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of The ONE
Enterprise Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and the following subsidiary
companies (“the subsidiaries”):

Country of Percentage of
Company’s name Nature of business incorporation shareholding
2024 2023
(%) (%)
Subsidiaries held by the Company
One 31 Company Limited Production of television Thailand 100 100
programmes and digital on-air
EXACT SCENARIO Company Artist management Thailand 100 100
Limited
Acts Studio Company Limited Lease of studio Thailand 100 100
GMM Channel Holding Company Investment in other businesses Thailand 100 100
Limited '
ONE SANOOK Company Limited  Investment in other businesses Thailand 100 100
TIFA Studios Company Limited Production of television and dramatics ~ Thailand 100 100
programmes broadcast on digital TV
Subsidiaries held by GMM Channel Holding Company Limited
GMM Media Public Company Production of radio programmes Thailand 99.8 99.8
Limited
GMM TV Company Limited Production of television programmes, Thailand 100 100

marketing management, sales of
goods and management of
channels to distribute
advertisements

in television programmes



c)

d)

Country of Percentage of

Company’s name Nature of business incorporation shareholding
2024 2023
(%) (%)
Change 2561 Company Limited Production of télevision and dramatics  Thailand 100 100

programmes broadcast on digital
TV and online channels
GMM Studios International Production of television and dramatics ~ Thailand 100 100
Company Limited programmes broadcast on digital
TV and online channels
Subsidiary held by GMM Media Public Company Limited

A-Time Media Company Limited Co-production of radio programmes Thailand 100 100
and provision of services relating to
marketing activities

Subsidiary held by GMM TV Company Limited

Parbdee Thaveesuk Company Production of television and dramatics ~ Thailand 51 51
Limited programmes broadcast on digital TV

and online channels
The Company is deemed to have control over an investee or subsidiaries if it has rights, -

or is exposed, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and it has the

ability to direct the activities that affect the amount of its returns.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated, being the date on which the Company obtain control,

and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared using the same significant

accounting policies as the Company.

Material balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have

been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the
subsidiaries that are not held by the Company and are presented separately in the
consolidated profit or loss and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

2.3 The separate financial statements present investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint

ventures under the cost method.



3.1

3.2

4.1

New financial reporting standards
Financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year

During the year, the Group has adopted the revised financial reporting standards which are
effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2024. These financial reporting
standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting
Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and
providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on
or after 1 January 2025

The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reporting
standards, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2025. These '
financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International
Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying

accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards.

The management of the Group believes that adoption of these amendments will not have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Accounting policies
Revenue and expense recognition
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery of the goods. Revenue is measured at -
the amount of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax, of goods
supplied after deducting returns, discounts, allowances and price promotions to customers.

Service income
a) Service income from advertising and promotion

Service income from advertising and promotion are recognised as income when
services have been rendered and programmes broadcast. Service income from
advertising and promotion are stated on the basis of an invoiced value for the services
rendered after deducting discount and are reduced from the consideration payable to a
customer.



b)

d)

e)

h)

Revenues from production and service

Revenue from production for the contract, which has the content that the ownership of
work is vested in the customer since the entity starts the production and the entity has
an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date, is recognised -
over time when services have been rendered taking into account the stage of

completion.

Revenue from production for the contract with content other than the above conditions
is recognised at point in time when the production is completed and transfer the content. A

Revenue of service is recognised at a point in time upon completion of the service.
Revenue from sublease of television station

Revenue from sublease of television station is recognised over the period of the

sublease.
Revenue from artist management

Revenue from artist management is recognised at a point in time upon completion of -

the service.
Revenue from production of radio programmes

Revenue from production of radio programmes represents the service income from .
advertising and promotion of radio programmes and is stated at an invoiced value for
the services rendered after deducting consideration payable to a customer. Service
income from advertising and promotion is recognised when services or programmes
have been rendered or broadcasted.

Revenue from studio rental service

Studio rental service income is recognised at a point in time upon completion of the

service.

Revenue from management

Revenue from management is recognised over the management period.
Revenue from production of concerts and event organizer

Revenue from production of concerts and event organizer are recognised when

concerts or event have taken place.



4.2

4.3

The recognised revenue which is not yet due per the contracts has been presented under the
caption of “Accrued income” in the statement of financial position. The amounts are reclassified
to trade receivables when the Group issues the invoices.

The obligation to services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration or an
amount of consideration is due from the customer is presented under the caption of “Unearned
income” in the statement of financial position. Unearned income is recognised as revenue when

the Group performs under the contract.
Revenues from copyrights

Revenues from copyrights are recognised when the right to receive payment is established, and .
reasonable estimates of such amount can be made.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive the dividends is established.
Finance income

Finance income is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised on an
accrual basis. The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of a financial
assets.

Finance cost

Interest expense from financial liabilities at amortised cost is calculated using the effective

interest method and recognised on an accrual basis.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and at banks, and all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less and not subject to withdrawal |

restrictions.
Inventories
Finished goods are valued at the lower of cost (moving average method) or net realisable value.

Television programmes are valued at the lower of the accumulated production costs in progress
and those which are completed and ready for broadcasting and net realisable value. The costs,
which consist of expenses directly associated with programme production, are charged to profit

or loss when the programmes are broadcasted.

Television programmes of drama series will be transferred to program rights when the

programmes are broadcasted.



4.4

4.5

4.6

Investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and associate

Investment in joint venture and associate are accounted for in the consolidated financial

statements using the equity method.

Investments in subsidiaries and associate are accounted for in the separate financial

statements using the cost method.
Property, plant and equipment/Depreciation

Land is stated at cost. Buildings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and allowance for impairment loss on assets (if any).

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-
line basis over the following estimated useful lives:

Useful lives
Buildings and buildings improvement 3 - 50 years
Operating equipment 3-7 years
Furniture, fixtures and office équipment 3-5 years
Computer and equipment 3-7 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Depreciation is included in determining income.
No depreciation is provided on land and construction in process.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on disposal

of an asset is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
Cost of spectrum license and amortisation

Cost of spectrum license is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and allowance for
impairment loss (if any), and for the cost of spectrum license was measured at the cash -
equivalent price based on the present value of the installments. The difference between the
total payment to be made and the cash equivalent price is recognised as a finance cost over
the license fee payment period. It is recognised as the asset and liability under the license
when the license period whereby, the cost of license is known.

Cost of spectrum license is amortised on a straight-line basis over the license period,
7 years for radio license and 15 years for digital TV license. The amortisation expense is
charged to profit or loss.



4.7

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired through business combination are initially recognised at their fair value -
on the date of business acquisition while intangible assets acquired in other cases are recognised
at cost. Following the initial recognition, the intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and allowance for impairment loss (if any).

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on the straight-line basis over the economic -
useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method of such intangible
assets are reviewed at least at each financial year end. The amortisation expense is charged
to profit or loss. '

A summary of the intangible assets with finite useful lives is as follows:

a) Program rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and allowance for
impairment loss (if any). '

Program rights are recognised as the assets under the license contracts when the
license contracts period whereby, the cost of rights are known, and rights are under
control of the Group. Program rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
license contract periods.

In respect of program rights of drama series, which were transferred from inventories,
the Group amortised their program rights at a rate of 60 % of the costs in the first
broadcasting. The remaining book value will be amortised on a straight-line basis over

a period of 5 years. |

b)  Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and allowance for
impairment loss (if any). It is amortised on a straight-line basis which has useful lives
3 - 10 years.

c) Intangible asset arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries are as follows:

Useful lives
Trademark Chill » 10 years
Customer contract 2.1 years
Customer relationships 15 years
Artist contract 0.4and 3.5 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are trademark Green Wave and EFM arising from .
the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite
useful lives of the intangible assets is reviewed annually.



4.8

4.9

4.10

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recorded at cost, which equals to the excess of cost of business
combination over the fair value of the net assets acquired. If the fair value of the net assets
acquired exceeds the cost of business combination, the excess is immediately recognised as -

gain in profit or loss.

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be

impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units (or group of cash-generating units)
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The Group estimates the .
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Related party transactions

Related parties comprise enterprises and individuals that control, or are controlled by, the

Group, whether directly or indirectly, or which are under common control with the Group.

They also include associated companies and individuals which directly or indirectly own a
voting interest in the Group that gives them significant influence over the Group, key
management personnel, directors, and officers with authority in the planning and direction of

the Group’s operations.

Leases

At inception of contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Group as a lessee

The Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. At the commencement date of the lease
(i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use), the Group recognises right-of-use
assets representing the right to use underlying assets and lease liabilities based on lease
payments.



Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation, any accumulated '
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities initially recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease less
any lease incentives received. A

Depreciation of right-of-use assets are calculated by reference to their costs on the straight-
line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term.

Buildings and buildings improvement 3-6 years
Motor vehicles 3-5 vyears
Computer and other equipment 3-7 vyears

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group at the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Right-of-use assets are presented as part of property, plant and equipment in the statement
of financial position.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be payable under residual value guarantees. Moreover, the lease payments include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

The Group discounted the present value of the lease payments by the interest rate implicit in -
the lease or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the

assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

10



4.11

4.12

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

A lease that has a lease term less than or equal to 12 months from commencement date or
a lease of low-value assets is recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

The Group as a lessor

A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to a lessee is classified as finance leases. As at the commencement date, -
an asset held under a finance lease is recognised as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease or the present value of the lease payments receivable and any
unguaranteed residual value. Subsequently, finance income is recognised over the lease

term to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the lease.

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to a lessee. Lease receivables from
operating leases is recognised as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the |
carrying amount of the underlying assets and recognised as an expense over the lease term
on the same basis as the lease income.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Baht, which is also the
Group’s functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the .
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

translated into Baht at the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Gains and losses on exchange are included in determining income.
Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group performs impairment reviews in respect of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible assets whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. An impairment
loss is recognised when the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of the asset’s

fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than the carrying amount.

In determining value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value -

of money and the risks specific to the asset.

11



4.13

In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These

calculations are corroborated by a valuation model that, based on information available, -
reflects the amount that the Group could obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s

length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the costs of

disposal.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

In the assessment of asset impairment (except for goodwill), if there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairmentloss is .
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The increased carrying
amount of the asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised .
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages, bonuses and contributions to the social security fund are recognised as

expenses when incurred.
Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Group and its employees have jointly established a provident fund. The fund is monthly
contributed by employees and by the Group. The fund’s assets are held in a separate trust fund

and the Group’s contributions are recognised as expenses when incurred.
Defined benefit plans

The Group have obligations in respect of the severance payments it must make to employees
upon retirement under labor law. The Group treat these severance payment obligations as a
defined benefit plan.

12



4.14

4.15

4.16

The obligation under the defined benefit plan is determined by a professionally qualified

independent actuary based on actuarial techniques, using the projected unit credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans benefits are recognised

immediately in other comprehensive income.
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be -
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

Income Tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of corporate income tax currently payable and deferred

tax.
Current tax

Current income tax is provided in the accounts at the amount expected to be paid to the |

taxation authorities, based on taxable profits determined in accordance with tax legislation.
Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts at the end of each reporting period, using the tax
rates enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The Group recognises deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences while its
recognise deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried
forward to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
such deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilised.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews and reduces the carrying amount of deferred tax -
assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

The Group records deferred tax directly to shareholders' equity if the tax relates to items that
are recorded directly to shareholders' equity.

Financial instruments

The Group initially measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. However, -
trade receivables, that do not contain a significant financing component, are measured at the

transaction price as disclosed in the accounting policy relating to revenue recognition.

13-



Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as to be subsequently measured at -
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI”), or fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”"). The classification of financial assets at initial recognition is
driven by the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual
cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets at amortised cost

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if the financial asset is held in order
to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on .
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
rate ("EIR”) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit -
or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are carried in the statement of financial position at fair

value with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

Except for derivative liabilities, at initial recognition the Group’s financial liabilities are
recognised at fair value net of transaction costs and classified as liabilities to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.
In determining amortised cost, the Group takes into account any fees or costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the

trade date, i.e., the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Derecognition of financial instruments

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired or have been transferred and either the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or the Group has transferred control of
the asset.

14



A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original -
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt
instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance .
is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure (a lifetime ECL).

The Group considers a significant increase in credit risk to have occurred when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due and considers a financial asset as credit impaired
or default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to have a significant increase in credit risk and to
be in default using other internal or external information, such as credit rating of issuers.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss '
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. ECLs are calculated based on its
historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the |
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

15



4.17 Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in A
an orderly transaction between buyer and seller (market participants) at the measurement date.
The Group applies a quoted market price in an active market to measure their assets and
liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value by relevant financial reporting
standards. Exceptin case of no active market of an identical asset or liability or when a quoted '
market price is not available, the Group measures fair value using valuation technique that
are appropriate in the circumstances and maximises the use of relevant observable inputs
related to assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy into three levels based on
categorise of input to be used in fair value measurement as follows:

Level 1- Use of quoted market prices i.n an observable active market for such assets or -
liabilities
Level 2-  Use of other observable inputs for such assets or liabilities, whether directly or

indirectly
Level 3- Use of unobservable inputs such as estimates of future cash flows

At the end of each reporting period, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels within the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities held at the end of the

reporting period that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
5. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times
requires management to make subjective judgements and estimates regarding matters that .
are inherently uncertain. These judgements and estimates affect reported amounts and
disclosures; and actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant judgements and
estimates are as follows:

Goodwill and intangible assets

The initial recognition and measurement of goodwill and intangible assets, and subsequent
impairment testing, require management to make estimates of cash flows to be generated by
the asset or the cash-generating units and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

16



Related party transactions

During the years, the Group had significant business transactions with related parties. Such

transactions, which are summarised below, arose in the ordinary course of business and

were concluded on commercial terms and bases agreed upon between the Group and those

related parties.

Transactions with the major shareholders

Service income

Revenues from copyrights

Cost of services

Selling and administrative expenses
Management fee expenses
Dividend payment

Transactions with joint venture

Service income

Cost of service

Selling and administrative expenses
Transactions with associate company

Dividend income
Transactions with subsidiaries

(eliminated from the consolidated financial
statements)

Service income

Revenues from copyrights

Finance income

Dividend income

Cost of services

Selling and administrative expenses

Transactions with related companies

Service income

Revenue from copyrights

Other income

Cost of services

Selling and administrative expenses
Rental and other service expenses

*Pricing policies explanations

(1) Contract price with the rental rate as appraised by independent valuer or the contract price

Consolidated

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

(Unit: Million Baht)

Pricing policy*

2024 2023 2024 2023

64 140 - -
. 17 - 1
67 139 - -
19 23 - 7
22 18 22 18
145 125 145 125
14 34 - -
2 - - -
2 - - -

- 2 - 2

- - 295 277

- - 19 25

- - 8 5

; - 470 406

- - - 63

- - 2 1
263 262 - -
32 10 - -
23 28 - -
215 193 - -
97 58 1
152 150 7

(2)/(4)/(3)
QUC)
©)
4)/(5)
(4)(8)
@)

)/(4)/(5)
®)
@)/()

@

@//(5)
QUCY
©®)

@)
©)
ANE)

)A)/(5)
QUC)
)Y/&)/(5)
@)
4)(8)
(D/@(5)

(2) With reference to prices charged to third parties depending on when the sales were made and the agreement

(3) Cost plus margin
(4) Mutually agreed price
(5) Contract price

(6) At the rate not lower than the maximum rate of fixed deposit or the rate of Minimum Loan Rate (MLR) plus the rate (not
more than) 0.15% per annum (2023: plus the rate (not more than) 0.15% per annum) based on case by case

(7) As declaration
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As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances of the accounts between the Group and

those related parties are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Trade and other receivables {(Note 8)

Major shareholders 37,959 36,074 58 173

Subsidiaries - - 496,392 663,141

Joint ventures 9,128 18,876 - -

Associate company - 32 - -

Related companies (related by common shareholder) 24,174 199,443 - -

Related companies (related by common director) 344 - 344 -
Total 71,605 254,425 496,794 663,314

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (220) (150) 3) 3)
Net 71,385 254,275 496,791 663,311
Deposits (Note 18)

Related companies (related by common shareholder) 2,000 3,000 - -

Related companies (related by common director) 45,929 42,741 3,665 3,657
Total 47,929 45,741 3,655 3,657
Prepayment for marketing agent (Note 18)

Related companies (related by common shareholder) 34,840 42,880 - -
Total 34,840 42,880 - -
Trade and other payables

Major shareholders 46,001 28,997 1,341 2,762

Subsidiaries - - 5,482 9,487

Joint venture 311 1,250 - -

Related companies (related by common shareholder) 32,685 175,947 20 7

Related companies (related by common director) 3,462 3,680 282 380
Total 86,459 209,874 7,125 12,636
Unearned income

Joint venture - 119 - -

Related companies (related by common shareholder) 1,038 175 - -

Related companies (related by common director) - 899 - -
Total 1,038 1,193 - -
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Loans to subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances of loans to subsidiaries and the movement
are as follows: ,
(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statements

31 December 2023 Increase Decrease Reclassification 31 December 2024
Short-term loans to subsidiaries 960,500 387,000 (199,000) (1,148,500)
Long-term loans to subsidiaries - ' - - 1,148,500 1,148,500 .
Total 960,500 387,000 (199,000) . 1,148,500

Minimum interest rate charged on loans to subsidiaries is charged at the rate not lower than the
rate of fixed deposit or the rate of minimum loan rate (MLR) plus (not more than) 0.15% per
annum (2023: plus the rate (not more than) 0.15% per annum).

In 2024, the Company reclassified loans to subsidiaries from short-term to long-term, as it does
not intend to collect them for at least one year to facilitate internal financial management.

Directors and management’s benefits

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had employee benefit
expenses of their directors and management as below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Short-term benefits 210,322 200,419 100,002 104,747
Post-employment benefits 2,323 2,549 865 840 |
Total 212,645 202,968 100,867 105,587

Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits in saving accounts carried interests between '
0.25 - 4.00% per annum (2023: 0.30 - 2.50% per annum) (the Company only: 0.35 - 4.00% per
annum (2023: 0.50 - 2.50% per annum)).
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Trade and other receivables

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Trade receivables - related parties
Aged on the basis of due dates
Not yet due 61,087 177,081 311,188 39,056
Past due
Up to 3 months 8,654 60,374 2,296 75,432
3 - 6 months 16 1,744 - 73,194
6 - 12 months 225 3,790 - 121,991
Total . 69,982 242,989 313,484 309,373
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (220) (150) (3) 3) A

Total trade receivables - related parties - net 69,762 242,839 313,481 309,370

Trade receivables - unrelated parties

Aged on the basis of due dates

Not yet due 471,384 672,781 1 1
Past due

Up to 3 months 289,531 290,517 2 2

3 - 6 months 55,048 77,868 - -

6 - 12 months 39,703 33,893 - -

Over 12 months 64,456 30,947 - -
Total 920,122 1,106,006 3 3
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (100,299) (64,030) - -
Total trade receivables - unrelated parties - net 819,823 1,041,976 3 3
Total trade receivables - net 889,585 1,284,815 313,484 309,373
Other receivables
Other receivables - related parties - - 765 490
Other receivables - unrelated parties 13,656 12,638 - -
Accrued income - related parties 1,623 11,436 7,689 38,471
Accrued income - unrelated parties 378,576 381,087 2,260 4377
Accrued dividend - related parties - - 174,856 314,980
Total other receivables 393,855 405,161 185,570 358,318
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (9,227) - - -
Total other receivables - net 384,628 - 185,570 -
Total trade and other receivables - net 1,274,213 1,689,976 499,054 667,691
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The Group expects the balances of accrued income as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 to be

classified as trade receivables in the following periods:

Accrued income - related parties
Within 1 year

Total accrued income - related parties

Accrued income - unrelated parties
Within 1 year
Over 1 and up to 2 years

Over 2 and up to 3 years

Total accrued income - unrelated parties
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses
Total accrued income - unrelated parties - net

Total accrued income - net

Consolidated
financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate
financial statements

2024 2023

2024 2023

1,623 11,436

7,689 38,471

1,623 11,436

7,689 38,471

378,576 380,671 2,260 4,377
- 152 - -

- 264 - -
378,576 381,087 2,260 4,377
(9,277) - - -
369,349 381,087 2,260 4,377
370,972 392,523 9,949 42,848

Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other

receivables.

Beginning balance

Increase of provision for expected credit losses

Ending balance

Inventories

Finished goods

Television programmes
Total

Less: Reduce cost to net realisable value

Total inventories - net

Consolidated
financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht) -
Separate
financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023

64,180 19,820 3 -

45,566 44,360 - 3
109,746 64,180 3 3

Consolidated
financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht) -
Separate
financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023

40,861 26,955 - -
736,445 637,302 5,004 5,004
777,306 664,257 5,004 5,004
(21,342) (21,342) (5,004) (5,004)
755,964 642,915 - -

During the year 2024, the Group did not record the reduction of cost of inventories to net

realisable value (the Company only: Nit).
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10.

1.

During the year 2023, the Group record the reduction of cost of inventories to net realisable

value by Baht 4 million (the Company only: Baht 1 million). This was included in cost of

services.

Other current financial assets

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Short-term deposit

Financial assets at FVTPL

Short-term investment in financial asset

Total other current financial assets - net

Other current assets

Input tax refundable

Prepaid expenses

Withholding tax

Bank deposit for customer projects

Others

Total other current assets

Consolidated financial

(Unit: Thousand Baht) -

Separate financial

statements statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
155,000 155,000 155,000 155,000
- 6,988 - -
155,000 161,988 155,000 155,000

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
79,452 64,141 226 1,003
27,739 87,438 7,524 7,367
2,295 - - -
4,830 24,083 - -
3,507 2,951 1,515 1,225
117,463 178,613 9,265 9,505
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12.

Investments in subsidiaries

Details of investments in subsidiaries as presented in the separate financial statements are

as follows:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Shareholding Dividend income recognised
Company's name Paid-up capital percentage Cost during the year
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
(%) (%)
One 31 Company Limited 1,431,900 1,431,900 100 100 2,580,000 2,580,000 102,942 150,930
EXACT SCENARIO Company
Limited 1,000 1,000 100 100 784 784 19,618 ‘ 19,996
Acts Studio Company Limited 405,000 405,000 100 100 405,000 405,000 - -
GMM Channel Holding Company
Limited 500,000 500,000 100 100 2,200,00 2,200,000 347,600 235,000
ONE SANOOK Company Limited 40,000 40,000 100 100 40,000 40,000 - -
TIFA Studios Company Limited 2,000 2,000 100 100 2,000 2,000 -
5,227,784 5,227,784 470,160 405,926
Less: Allowance for impairment (13,447) (8,808) - -
Total investments in subsidiaries - net 5,214,337 5,218,976 470,160 405,926

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company determined impairment of investment
in ONE SANOOK Company Limited since the subsidiary’s recoverable amount was lower
than the book value, and thus the Company recorded an allowance for impairment of the
investment in the subsidiary amounting to Baht 5 million (2023: Baht 9 million) in the separate

statement of comprehensive income.
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13.

13.1

Investment in joint venture
Details of investments in joint ventures

Investment in joint venture represents investment in entity which is jointly controlled by the

subsidiaries and other companies. Details of the investment is as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated financial statements

Nature of Country of Shareholding Carrying amounts
Joint venture business incorporation percentage Cost based on equity method

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(%) (%)
Joint venture motion pictures  Production of Thailand 25.00 25.00 11,235 11,235 19,034 19,054
Congratulations My Ex motion pictures
GOOD THINGS HAPPEN Media Service Thailand 51.00 51.00 15,612 15,612 14,689 13,111
Company Limited ’
PEN 1 F&B Company Limited Production and Thailand 33.33 33.33 15,000 156,000 1,544 6,193
distribution of
beverages
NEO ONE SUSTAINMENT Production of Thailand 50.00 - 1,500 - 277 -
Company Limited television
programmes
broadcast on
digital TV and
online channels
GINGERX Company Limited  Production of Thailand 70.00 - 1,400 - - -
television and
dramatics
programmes
broadcast on
digital TV and
online channels
GMM X ONE Company Operation of Thailand 50.00 - 10,000 - 9,992 -
Limited music label
business to
develop a
group of artists
with musical
talent

Total 54,747 41,847 45,546 38,358

On 22 November 2024, ONE SANOOK Company Limited, a subsidiary invested 399,999
ordinary shares of GMM X ONE Company Limited at a price of Baht 100 per share (called up -
capital of Baht 25 per share), totaling Baht 10 miillion in accordance with the resolution of the
Board of Directors Meeting No. 4/2023 held on 18 August 2023. As a result, ONE SANOOK
Company Limited holds 50% of its share capital.
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13.2 Share of profit (loss) and dividend received

14.

During the years, the subsidiaries recognised its share of profit (loss) from investments in the

joint ventures in the consolidated financial statements as follows:

Joint ventures

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

Share of profit/loss from
investments in joint

ventures during the year

Share of other
comprehensive income
from investments in joint

ventures during the year

Joint venture motion pictures Congratulations
My Ex

GOOD THINGS HAPPEN Company Limited

PEN 1 F&B Company Limited

NEO ONE SUSTAINMENT Company Limited

GINGERX Company Limited

GMM X ONE Company Limited

Total

Property, plant and equipment

Net book value:

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets (Note 21)
Total

2024 2023 2024 2023
(21) 7,819 - -
1,889 (2,501) (311) -
(4,639) (8,807) - -
(1,223) - - -
(1,400) - - -
(8) - - -
(5,402) (3,489) (311) -

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

As at 31 December

As at 31 December

2024 2023 2024 2023
661,375 645,969 12,137 16,886

93,611 99,254 2,158 8,751
754,986 745,223 14,205

25,637
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15.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statement

Furniture,
Buildings fixtures and Computer
and buildings  Operating office and
improvement  equipment equipment equipment Total
Cost: _
1 January 2023 26,576 34 3,317 15,372 45299
Additions 1,870 1 603 2,324 4,798
Disposals/write-off - - 3) (2) (5)
31 December 2023 28,446 35 3,917 17,694 50,092
Additions v 1,021 v - 210 1,295 2,526 -
Disposals/write-off - - (10) (229) (239)
31 December 2024 29,467 35 4,117 18,760 52,379
Accumulated depreciation:
1 January 2023 18,993 33 1,732 1,929 22,687
Depreciation for the year 5,538 - 694 4,292 10,524
Depreciation on disposals/write-off - - 3) (2) (5)
31 December 2023 24,531 - 33 2,423 6,219 33,208
Depreciation for the year 1,874 - 476 4,892 7,242
Depreciation on disposals/write-off - - (10) (196) (206) -
31 December 2024 26,405 33 2,889 10,915 40,242
Net book value:
31 December 2023 3915 2 1,494 11,475 16,886
31 December 2024 3,062 2 1,228 7,845 12,137 ‘
Depreciation for the year
2023 (all included in selling and administrative expenses) 10,524
2024 (all included in selling and administrative expenses) 7,242

Cost of spectrum license

The net book values of cost of spectrum license as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
presented below.

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated financial statements

2024 2023
Cost 2,312,957 2,312,957
Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,728,931) (1,593,117)
Net book value 584,026 719,840
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16.

Reconciliations of the net book values of cost of spectrum license for the years 2024 and
2023 are presented below.
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Consolidated financial statements

2024 2023
Net book value at beginning of year 719,840 855,305
Amortisation (135,814) (135,465)
Net book value at end of year 584,026 719,840

As at 31 December 2024, net book value of cost of spectrum license to provide terrestrial
digital television service in the type of national commercial service for General (Variety) high-
definition category is Baht 550 million (2023: Baht 678 million).

As at 31 December 2024, net book value of cost of spectrum license to provide radio service
in the type of regional commercial service is Baht 34 million (2023: Baht 42 million).

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

The Company allocates goodwill acquired through business combination and “Green Wave”
and “EFM" trademarks with indefinite useful lives to an asset's cash-generating unit for annual
impairment testing as follows:

(Unit: Million Baht)

ceU2 ' CGU 4 CGU 5
CcGU 1 (GMM Media CGU 3 (GMM Studios (Parbdee
(GMM TV Public (Change2561  International Thaveesuk
Company Company Company Company Company
Limited) Limited) Limited) Limited) Limited) Total
Goodwill 764 150 396 210 16 1,536
“Green Wave" trademark - 91 - - - 91
"EFM” trademark - 31 - - - 31

The Group has determined the recoverable amounts of its cash-generating units based on .
value in use using cash flow projections from financial estimation approved by management
covering a 5-year period.

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations are as follows:
(Unit: percent per annum)

2024 2023
Long-term growth rate 2.8 2.8
Discount rate 11.0 and 11.5 10.2

The management determined the budgeted gross profit margin and long-term growth rate .
based on past performance and its expectations of market development. The discount rate
used reflects specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

The long-term growth rate used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the period
covered by the most recent forecasts does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for .
the industry in which the CGU operates.
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These assumptions are based on management of the Group’s judgement. Changes in the
information or new noticeable information may lead to the change in the assumptions and the
discount rate for the estimation of the discounted future cash flows along with sensitivity of
key assumptions effect to the recoverable amount. '

Management has considered the above and believes that there is no occurrence of
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

However, if the long-term growth rate was reduced or discount rate was increased, as .
presented in the table below, the expected recoverable amount would be equal to the carrying
amount.

Unit: % per annum

CGU1 CGU 2 CGU 3 Ccu 4 CGU5
(GMM TV (GMM Media (Change2561 (GMM Studios (Parbdee
Company Public Company Company International Thaveesuk
Limited) Limited) Limited) Company Limited) Company Limited)
Growth rate decreases More than (10.0)  More than (10.0) (0.6) (0.2) More than (10.0)
Discount rate increases More than 10.0 More than 10.0 0.5 0.2 More than 10.0

30



(3

99.°/16'8 GG8'GE ¥68'€0C 6198 8Zy'eCl 0es'oct ovb'Ger'e
(££0'82) - - - - (cev'y) (509'€2)
€08'6.1°L - - - - - €08'6L1°)
9ev'6G - - - - 2.2'6S 12213
95902 GG8'Ge ¥68'€0T 619'8 gTr'ezl 069'G9 8/0'69Z'L
(Crags) - - - - (9.£'2) (0s0'e)
€55'GEL’L - - - - - €66'6EL')
¥96'0v - - - - zse'ol z19'oe
€.¥'GEG'9 GG8'Ge ¥68'€0T 6198 gev'ect v11'1S £96°G0L'9
[elol JOBIUOD diysuonelas J0BNUOD slewapel | alemyos sjybu
sy Jawioysn) Jawojsn) Jaindwio) weiboud

(lyeg puesnoy un)

SJUSLIBJE)S [BIOUBUL PAJEPIIOSUOD

02 Jequisdeq LE
Jo-aymys|esodsig
SOLICJUDALI WOl pausjsuel |
suonippy

€202 JequisdaQ Le
Jo-amysiesodsig
SBLIOJUDAUI WO pausjsuel |
suonippy

£zog Aenuer |

}sod

‘mojeq pejuasaid ale £20Z pue $20z Jequadaq LE Je se sjasse a|qibueiul Jo senjeA 400od Jau sy

sjasse a|qibueyu|

Ll



ce

¥SE0LS'L - 06€‘8yl - 8€5'CCL L0Z'88 6LZ LS
zTs'sIrlL Q0Z'y €86°L91 - 96.'zel 20L' VY G/8'v80°L
989'G9 - - - - - 986'G9
986'G9 - - - - - 986'G9
986'G9 - - - - - 986'G9
9z8'Lve’L GG8'GE ¥05'GS 6198 068 €ze'ze G€9'80C'L
(820'82) - - - - (€zv'y) (so9'eT)
86EvYL'L 902’y €65l - 8l¢ 8G.L'CL €29'eLLL
96¥'G2C'9 6v9°L€ L6y 6198 ¢l9 886'¢€T L19'8LL9
(0s0'c) - - - - - (050°¢)
668°LL1°L €60°0L €65l 89 81¢ 869'S 622'880°L
L09'0LL'S 9661z 81€£'8Z (Relege] 1414 06Z'8l 8EY'EEN’S
[elol JOBIUOD diysuoneyal JoBIUOD }ewepel | 2I1BMYOS sjybu
1siyy Jswoisn) Jswoisn) Jsindwio) welibold

(3yeg puesnoyl un)

SjUBWIBJE)S [BIOUBUY PAIEPIOSU0D

tZ0¢ lsquiadaq LE
€2¢0¢ Jequiadegd LE
anjea yooq JeN

¥20c JequiedsQ Le
€20¢ Jaquiedeq e
€20z Menuer |

$s0] jJuauniedul] 1oy 32UBMO||Y
¥20¢ jequieoeq e
Jo-ajumys|esodsic

Jeak ay} Joj uonesiHowy
€20¢ aquisdeq LE
Jo-a)umys|esodsiq

12aA 8y} 104 uonesILoWY
gzoz Menuer |

uonjesijowe pajenunady



18.

Cost

1 January 2023
Additions
Disposals/write-off

31 December 2023
Additions

31 December 2024
Accumulated amortisation
1 January 2023
Amortisation for the year
Disposals/write-off

31 December 2023
Amortisation for the year
31 December 2024

Net book value

31 December 2023

31 December 2024

Other non-current assets

Deposits - related parties
Deposits - unrelated parties
Withholding tax
Prepayment for marketing agent
- related party
Others
Total
Less: Allowance for impairment loss on

withholding tax

Total other non-current assets - net

(Unit: Thousand Baht) .

Separate financial statements

Program Computer
rights software Total
2,821 17,639 20,460
30,889 8,726 39,615
(1,840) - (1,840)
31,870 26,365 58,235
- 13,845 13,845
31,870 40,210 72,080
2,428 189 2,617
19,209 408 19,617
© (1,840) - (1,840)
19,797 597 20,394
2,513 3,817 6,330
22,310 4414 26,724
12,073 25,768 37,841
9,560 35,796 45,356

Consclidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
147,929 45,741 3,665 3,657
18,946 11,049 625 625
465,825 450,995 27,097 33,169
34,840 42,880 - .
1,196 - - -
568,736 550,665 31,387 37,451
(4,564) (6,665) (1,200) (1,200) .
564,172 540,635 30,187 36,251
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19. Trade and other payables

20.

21.

Trade payables - related parties
Trade payables - unrelated parties
Other payables - related parties
Other payables - unrelated parties
Accrued costs

Accrued expenses

Accrued commission

Dividend payable

Total trade and other payables

Other current liabilities

Undue input vat

Revenues department payable

Advance received from customer project
Others

Total other current liabilities

Leases

The Group as a lessee

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
69,903 200,421 1,866 7,283
256,190 289,251 2,226 8,275
3,075 1,147 162 -
17,441 30,028 453 329
705,195 482,252 3,035 18,034
115,561 159,787 15,011 16,829
164,658 174,637 5,868 10,303
103 153 - -
1,322,126 1,337,676 28,621 61,053

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
110,091 108,343 20,506 20,239
61,798 59,715 7,844 9,352
4,821 24,857 - -
4,791 5,512 165 148
181,501 198,427 28,515 29,739

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings and buildings improvement,

motor vehicles, computer and other equipment used in its operations. Leases generally have

lease terms between 3 - 5 years.
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Right-of-use assets

Movement of right-of-use assets for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are

summarised below:

Net book value as at 1 January 2023
Additions
Depreciation for the year

Wrrite-off - net book value

Transfers to property, plant and equipment

(Note 14)
Net book value as at 31 December 2023
Additions
Depreciation for the year
Write-off - net book value

Net book value as at 31 December 2024

Net book value as at 1 January 2023
Additions

Depreciation for the year

Net book value as at 31 December 2023

Depreciation for the year

Net book value as at 31 December 2024

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated financial statement

Buildings and
buildings
improvement  Motor vehicles Total
154,152 11,235 165,387
14,525 1,243 15,768
(73,105) (4,591) (77,696)
(3,805) - (3,805)
- (400) (400)
91,767 7,487 99,254
73,884 2,490 76,374
(77,157) (4,505) (81,662)
- (355) (355)
88,494 5117 93,611

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Separate financial statement

Buildings and
buildings
improvement  Motor vehicles Total
14,358 - 14,358
559 - 559
(6,166) - (6,166)
8,751 - 8,751
(6,593) - (6,593)
2,158 - 2,158
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b)

Lease liabilities

Consolidated
financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate
financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Lease payments 102,521 108,768 2,458 9,714
Less: Deferred interest expenses (5,942) (3,620) (25) (331) -
Total 96,579 105,148 2,433 9,383
Less: Current portion (45,461) (81,108) (2,433) (6,950)
Lease liabilities - net of current portion 51,118 24,040 - 2,433

Movements of the lease liability account during the years ended 31 December 2024 .

and 2023 are summarised below:

Consclidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Balance at beginning of year 105,148 171,376 9,383 14,800
Additions 76,375 15,768 - 559
Accretion of interest 3,495 7,092 306 595
Repayments (88,316) (85,016) (7,256) (6,571)
Cancellation of lease agreements (123) (4,072) - -

96,579 105,148 2,433 9,383

Balance at end of year

A maturity analysis of lease payments is disclosed in Note 32.1 under the liquidity risk.

Expenses relating to leases that are recognised in profit or loss

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht).
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 81,662 77,696 6,593 6,166 -
Interest expense on lease liabilities 3,495 7,092 306 595
Expense relating to short-term leases 5,316 2,437 466 435
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22,

d) Others

The Group had total cash outflows for leases for the year ended 31 December 2024 of
Baht 88 million (2023: Baht 87 million) (the Company only: Baht 7 million (2023: Baht 7

million)), including the cash outflow related to short-term lease and leases of low-value

assets.

Provision for long-term employee benefits

Provision for long-term employee benefits, which represents compensation payable to

employees after they retire, was as follows:

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Provision for long-term employee benefits at beginning of year 196,636 184,400 23,171 22,757
Included in profit or loss:
Current service cost 21,380 19,558 2,293 2,419
Interest cost 3,710 3,301 400 368
Included in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial loss (gain) arising from
Financial assumptions changes 2,710 (1,296) -
Experience adjustments 15,960 - 10,567
Demographic assumptions changes 4,574 - 612 -
Benefits paid during the year (17,188) (10,623) (3,222) (2,373) -
Provision for long-term employee benefits at end of year 227,782 196,636 32,525 23,171

The Group expects to pay Baht 51.8 million of long-term employee benefits during the next
year (the Company only: Baht 16.5 million) (2023: Baht 19.7 million, the Company only: Baht

5.8 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average duration of the liabilities for long-term

employee benefit is 10.4 years (the Company only: 9.4 years) (2023: 12.0 years, the

Company only: 8.8 years).

Significant actuarial assumptions are summarised below.

(Unit: percent per annum)
Consolidated/Separate financial statements

2024 2023
Discount rate 2.08 -3.59 0.53-3.82
Future salary increase rate (depending on age
and job position of employee) 3.50 - 5.50 3.50-5.50
Turnover rate ' 0.00 - 22.92 0.00-22.92
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The result of sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions that affect the present value of
the long-term employee benefit obligation as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are summarised

below:
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
As at 31 December 2024
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Increase 0.5%  Decrease 0.5% Increase 0.5% Decrease 0.5%
Discount rate (7,743) 8,266 (880) 937
Salary increase rate 8,119 (7,687) 921 (874)
Increase 20.0% Decrease 20.0% Increase 20.0% Decrease 20.0%
Turnover rate (11,722) 13,754 (1,308) 1,550
(Unit: Thousand Baht)
As at 31 December 2023 '
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Increase 0.5%  Decrease 0.5% Increase 0.5%  Decrease 0.5%
Discount rate (7,096) 7,561 (722) 767
Salary increase rate 9,361 (8,794) 978 (927)
Increase 20.0% Decrease 20.0% Increase 20.0% Decrease 20.0%
Turnover rate (14,477) 17,536 (1,487) 1,822

23. Statutory reserve

Pursuant to Section 116 of the Public Limited Companies Act B.E. 2535, the Company is
required to set aside a statutory reserve at least 5 percent of its net profit after deducting
accumulated deficit brought forward (if any), until the reserve reaches 10 percent of the -
registered capital. The statutory reserve is not available for dividend distribution.
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24. Revenues from contracts with customers

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Type of revenues:
Sales of goods 422,547 329,693 - -
Service income from advertising and promotion 2,719,536 2,810,260 5,800 28,559
Revenues from production and services 99,550 228,628 320 1,080 °
Revenues from concert event and organizer 753,940 636,532 - -
Revenues from sublease of television station 113,921 93,395 - -
Revenues from artist management 1,046,987 1,020,216 - -
Revenue from production of radio programmes 322,875 290,751 - -
Revenues from studio rental service 41,269 34,241 - -
Revenues from management - - 288,411 274,677
Revenues from copyrights 1,089,299 988,491 21,273 41,174
Total revenues from contracts with customers 6,609,924 6,432,207 315,804 345,470 -
Timing of revenue recognition:
Revenue recognised at a point in time 6,399,916 6,143,992 27,393 70,793
Revenue recognised over time 210,008 288,215 288,411 274,677
Total revenues from contracts with customers 6,609,924 6,432,207 315,804 345,470 -

25. Expenses by nature
Significant expenses classified by nature are as follows:

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated Separate

financial statements financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
Salaries and wages and other employee benefits 1,230,314 1,131,936 191,089 181,496
Depreciation 181,908 174,448 13,835 16,691
Amortisation 1,144,398 1,117,899 6,330 19,617
Amortisation of spectrum license fee 135,814 135,465 - -
Advertising and promotional expenses 314,122 286,182 3,339 8,062 -
Commission expenses 109,832 114,792 1,422 5,568
Management fee 11,290 18,500 14,631 17,652
Changes in inventories 113,049 (9,692) - 10
Allowance for expected credit losses 45,566 44,360 - 2,794 .
Impairment loss on investment - - 4,639 8,807
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26.

Income tax

Income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are made up

as follows:

Current income tax:

Current income tax charge

Deferred tax:

Relating to origination and reversal of

temporary differences

Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023

2024 2023

(102,943)  (126,790)

(711)  (15,983)

(11,384) (8,104)

(103,654)  (142,773)

(11,384) (8,104)

The amount of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income for

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Deferred tax relating to actuarial loss

Total

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
4,649 - 1,977 -
4,649 - 1,977 -
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The reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax expenses is shown below.

Accounting profit before tax

Applicable tax rate
Accounting profit before tax multiplied by

income tax rate

Effects about temporary differences and tax losse:

Effects of unrecognised temporary differences
Effects of preparing the consolidated financial
statements
Share of loss from investment in joint ventures
and associate
Effects of:
Dividends received that are excluded from
taxable profit
Non-deductible expenses
Others
Total

Income tax expenses reported in profit or loss

Consolidated

financial statements

(Unit: Thousand Baht)
Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
520,883 649,342 541,091 461,797
20% 20% 20% 20%
105,977 129,868 108,218 92,359
(17,630) (3,663) (2,920) (3,198)
1,695 - - -
7,696 10,589 - -
1,550 479 - -
- - (94,032)| |  (81,435)
4,399 5,581 96 378
(33) (81) 22 -
4,366 5,500 (93,914)  (81,057)
103,654 142,773 11,384 8,104
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27.

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Allowance for expected credit losses
Allowance for diminution in value of inventories
Cost of spectrum license
Provision for long-term employee benefits
Unused tax losses
Leases
Others

Total

Deferred tax liabilities
Adjustment of property plant and equipment
and intangible asset acquired from
subsidiaries acquisition
Total

Statements of financial position

(Unit: Thousand Baht)

Consolidated

financial statements

Separate

financial statements

2024 2023 2024 2023
20,353 12,834 - -
313 313 - -
18,636 22,967 - .
45,556 36,407 6,505 1,714
42,587 54,913 5020 20,075
1,512 1,185 55 126
) - 2,690 1,762
128,857 128619 14270 23,677
54,212 57,912 ; ]
54,212 57,912 ; ]

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses totaling Baht 1,533 million (2023: -
Baht 1,586 million) (the Company only: Nil (2023: Nil)), on which deferred tax assets have

not been recognised as the Group believes future taxable profits may not be sufficient to

allow utilisation of the unused tax {osses.

The Group have the unused tax losses amounting to Baht 1,746 million (2023: Baht 1,860 '
million) (the Company only: Baht 25 million (2023: Baht 100 million)) will gradually expire by

the year 2029 (2023: by the year 2028).

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity

holders of the Company (excluding other comprehensive income) by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
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28.

29.

Basic earnings per share are calculated below.

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2024 2023 2024 2023
Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company (Thousand Baht) 421,017 505,092 529,707 453,692
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares (Thousand shares) 2,381,250 2,381,250 2,381,250 2,381,250 .
Basic earnings per share (Baht/share) 0.18 0.21 0.22 0.19

Segment information

Operating segment information is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports
that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to make decisions '
about the allocation of resources to the segment and assess its performance.

The Group are principally engaged in the media segment comprising digital TV, radio,
production of content, production of advertising media, rent advertising space, sublease .
television station, artist management and studio rental service. Its operations are carried on
only in Thailand. Segment performance is measured based on operating profit or loss, on a
basis consistent with that used to measure operating profit or loss in the financial statements.
As a result, all of the revenues, operating profits and assets as reflected in these financial .
statements pertain exclusively to the aforementioned reportable operating segment and
geographical area.

For the year 2024 and 2023, the Group has no major customer with revenue of 10 percent
or more of the Group’s total revenues.

Provident fund

The Group and their employees have jointly established a provident fund in accordance with
the Provident Fund Act B.E. 2530. The Group and employees confribute to the fund monthly -
at rates of 3 and 5% of basic salary. The fund, which is managed by SCB Asset Management
Company Limited, will be paid to employees upon termination in accordance with the fund
rules. The contributions for the year 2024 amounting to approximately Baht 25 million (2023:
Baht 23 million) and Baht 4 million for the Company only (2023: Baht 4 million) were -
recognised as expenses.
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30. Dividends

Dividends Approved by Total dividends  Dividend per share .
(Thousand Baht) (Baht)

Final dividends for 2023 Annual General Meeting of the

Company's shareholders

on 26 April 2024 309,563 0.13
Interim dividends for 2024 the Board of Directors’ Meeting

on 23 August 2024 190,500 0.08
Total dividends for 2024 500,063 0.21

31. Commitments and contingent liabilities
31.1 Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitment of approximately Baht 1 million
relating to building, building improvement and interior design (2023: Baht 6 million, relating to -
tools and equipment, interior design, computer system and website development).

31.2 Uncalled portion of investments

As at 31 December 2024, a subsidiary has commitments in respect of the uncalled portion of

memorandum of investments in joint venture amounting to Baht 6 million (2023: Nil).
31.3 Long-term service commitments

a) A subsidiary entered into an agreement to utilize satellite television transmission
services for a period of three years. The subsidiary is required to comply with conditions A
specified in the agreement and has agreed to pay service fees and other related
expenses as outlined in the agreement. The contract expired during the year 2024, and
as of 31 December 2024, the subsidiary has no outstanding obligations to pay the
aforementioned fees (2023: USD 0.65 million). '
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A subsidiary entered into a lease agreement with the Royal Thai Army Radio and

Television Station (“RTART”) to use digital terrestrial television service in order to
broadcast digital television signal via RTART multiplexes. The service will be valid from
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2029. The subsidiary was required to pay the service fee as
stipulated in the agreements. As at 31 December 2024, the subsidiary had
commitments to pay such service fee amounting to Baht 34 million (2023: Baht 42
million) and is thereby required to comply with conditions stipulated in
the agreement. The National Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission
(“NBTC”) supports the lease for using digital terrestrial television fees for by the actual
rate but not exceed the rates stipulated by NBTC. In 2024, the subsidiary received the
support fee with whole amount from NBTC with and recorded it by deducting with cost
of services amounting to Baht 128 million (2023: Baht 128 million) in the consolidated .

statement of comprehensive income.

Two subsidiaries entered into an agreement in respect of public broadcasting rights with
the Royal Thai Army Radio and Television Station from 1 January 2025 to 31 December
2026. The subsidiaries were required to pay the service fee as stipulated in the
agreement. As at 31 December 2024, it had commitments to pay such service fee
amounting to Baht 11 million (2023: Baht 8 million) and are thereby required to comply
with conditions stipulated in the agreement.

The Group entered into area service agreements and other service agreements related |
to non-cancellable lease agreements. The term of the agreements was 1 - 3 years. The
Group is required to comply with conditions stipulated in the agreements, whereby the
Group’s minimum payments required under these service agreements amounted to
Baht 81 million (2023: Baht 66 million).

The Company had entered into a computer system service fee agreement with GMM
Grammy Public Company Limited for a period of 2 years for the use of such services as
specified in the contract. As at 31 December 2024, the Company has an obligation to -
pay service fees which amounted to Baht 2 million (2023: Baht 9 million).

The Company had entered into a 3 years coordination service with The National
Broadcasting and Telecommunication Commission (NBTC) agreement with GMM
Grammy Public Company Limited which the Company agreed to pay service fees and ‘
other expenses regarding the use of such services as specified in the contract. As at 31
December 2024, the Company has an obligation to pay service fees which amounted
to Baht 4 million (2023: Baht 1 million).
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31.4 Guarantees

31.5

32.

32.1

a) As at 31 December 2024, the Company has provided guarantees for the lease -
agreements for digital terrestrial television services granted to a subsidiary, which
amounted to Baht 21 million (2023: Baht 21 million).

b) As at 31 December 2024, a commercial bank issued letter of guarantees amounting to
Baht 22 million on behalf of three subsidiaries to guarantee the payments for the license '
fees for digital terrestrial television and radio services (2023: Baht 22 million).

c) As at 31 December 2024, there was an outstanding bank guarantee of Baht
2 million (2023: Baht 2 million) (the Company only; Nil, 2023: Nil) issued by banks in
respect of certain performance bonds as required in the normal course of business
which comprised the guarantee of performance under the agreement and guarantee of
electricity use and others.

Litigation

As of 31 December 2024, the Company and a domestic subsidiary are involved in a lawsuit
filed by a contractual party with the Central Intellectual Property and International Trade
Court. The lawsuit pertains to a license agreement for the use of copyrights and television

dramas, with the principal amount in dispute being approximately Baht 27 million, along with |
claims for other related compensation. The case is currently under consideration by the
Central Intellectual Property and International Trade Court. However, based on the
assessment of the legal department and the management of the Group, there is a belief that

the Group will not incur any material losses from a result of the lawsuit.
Financial instruments
Financial risk management

The Group’s financial instruments principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, loans, trade payables and lease liabilities. The financial risks associated with

these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below.
Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily with respect to trade receivables and loans. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts as stated in the statement
of financial position.

Trade receivables

The Group manages the risk by adopting appropriate credit control policies and procedures
and therefore does not expect to incur material financial losses. Outstanding trade

receivables are regularly monitored.
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An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar credit risks. The Group classifies customer segments by customer
type and rating. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of -
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date

about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is limited since the majority of business
transactions are denominated in Thai Baht.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relate primarily to their cash at banks, loans, '
borrowings, and lease liabilities. Most of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities bear

floating interest rates or fixed interest rates which are close to the market rate.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, significant financial assets and liabilities classified by
type of interest rate are summarised in the table below, with those financial assets and
liabilities that carry fixed interest rates further classified based on the maturity date, or the
repricing date if this occurs before the maturity date.

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2024

Fixed interest rates Non-
Within 1-5 Floating interest
1 year years interest rate bearing Total Interest rate
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 871 - 822 - 1,693 Note 7
Trade and other receivables - - - 1,274 1,274 -
Short-term deposit 155 - - - 165 21-22
1,026 - 822 1,274 3,122
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - 1,322 1,322 -
Lease liabilities 46 51 - - 97 3.7-50
46 51 - 1,322 1,419
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Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Short-term deposit
Short-term investment in

financial asset

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Long-term loans

Lease liabilities

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables

Long-term loans to subsidiaries

Short-term deposit

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Consolidated financial statements

(Unit: Million Baht)

As at 31 December 2023

Fixed interest rates Non-
Within 1-5 Floating interest
1 year years interest rate bearing Total Interest rate
(% per annurh)
871 - 719 - 1,590 Note 7
- - - 1,690 1,690 -
155 - - - 155 2.1
7 - - - 7 .
1,033 - 719 1,690 3,442
- - - 1,338 1,338 -
1 - - - 1 7.0
81 24 - - 105 3.7-5.0
82 24 - 1,338 1,444

Separate financial statements

(Unit: Million Baht)

As at 31 December 2024

Fixed interest rates Non-
Within 1-5 Floating interest
1 year years interest rate bearing Total interest rate
(% per annum)
871 - 83 - 954 Note 7
- - - 499 499 -
- - 1,149 - 1,149 Note 6
155 - - - 155 21-22
1,026 - 1,232 499 2,757
- - - 29 29 -
2 - - - 2 5.0
2 - - 29 31
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(Unit: Million Baht)

Separate financial statements

As at 31 December 2023

Fixed interest rates Non-
Within 1-5 Floating interest
1 year years interest rate bearing Total Interest rate
(% per annum)
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 871 82 - 953 Note 7
Trade and other receivables - - - 668 668 -
Short-term loans to
subsidiaries - - 961 - 961 Note 6
Short-term deposit 155 - - - 155 2.1
1,026 - 1,043 668 2,737
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - 61 61 -
Lease liabilities 7 2 - - 9 5.0
7 2 - 61 70

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors the risk of a shortage of liquidity through the use of bank loans and lease |
contracts. The Group has assessed the concentration of risk with respect to refinancing its
debt and concluded it to be low. The Group has access to a sufficient variety of sources of
funding.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative financial

liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 based on contractual undiscounted cash flows:
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Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Total non-derivatives

Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables

Lease liabilities

Total non-derivatives

Non-derivatives

Bank overdrafts

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Total non-derivatives

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2024

On Less than 1to5
demand 1 year years Total
- 1,322 - 1,322
- 49 54 103
- 1,371 54 1,425

(Unit: Million Baht)
Separate financial statements

As at 31 December 2024

On Less than 1to b
demand 1 year years Total
- 29 - 29
- 2 - 2
- 31 - 31

(Unit: Million Baht)

Consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2023

On Less than 1105
demand 1 year years Total
- 1,338 - 1,338
- 84 25 109
- 1 - 1
- 1,423 25 1,448 .
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32.2

33.

34.

35.

(Unit: Million Baht)
Separate financial statements
As at 31 December 2023

On Less than 1t05
demand 1 year years Total
Non-derivatives
Trade and other payables - 61 - 61
Lease liabilities - 7 3 10 .
Total non-derivatives - 68 3 71

Fair values of financial instruments

Since the majority of the Group’s financial instruments are short-term in nature or carrying .
interest at rates close to the market interest rates, their fair value is not expected to be

materially different from the amounts presented in the statements of financial position.
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it has appropriate
capital structure in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. As at
31 December 2024, the Group have debt to equity ratio 0.31:1 (2023: 0.33:1), the Company
only has debt to equity ratio of 0.01:1 (2023: 0.02:1).

Events after the reporting period

On 21 February 2025, the Board of Directors’ meeting of the Company passed the resolution
for the payment of a cash dividend of Baht 0.09 per share to the shareholders, totaling
Baht 214.31 million that will be paid and recorded after it is approved by the Annual General A
Meeting of the Company’s shareholders which will be held on 28 April 2025.

Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors -
on 21 February 2025.
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(For consideration of Agenda 5) Enclosure No.3.1

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Name - Surname - Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit

Age - 62 years

Nationality - Thai

Appointment Date of Directorship + 24 February 2023

Period of Directorship 2 Years 2 months (until the date of AGM)
5years 2months

(Including the proposed agenda for this time)

Type of Director to be Appointed - Independent Director

Education

- Bachelor’s degree in communication arts, Chulalongkorn University

Training Program
Thai Institute of Directors (10D):

- Program Subsidiary Governance Program (SGP) Class 5/2023
- Program Director Leadership Certification Program (DLCP) Class 1/2021
- Program Advance Audit Committee Program (AACP) Class 30/2018 Class 30/ 2018
- Program Director Certification Program (DCP) Calss 148/2011

Position in the Company

18 Aug 2023 - Present Chairman of Risk Management Corporate Governance and Sustainability
24 Feb 2023 - Present Independent Director / Member of the Audit Committee / Member of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Directorship and Executive Position in Other Company

o [Listed Company: 2 Companies

Period Position Company
2018 - Present Adviser Stonehenge Inter Plc.
2018 - Present Member of the Audit Committee / TCM Corporation Plc.

Independent Director

o Non-Listed Company: -None-

Working Experience (at least for the past 5 years)

Period Position Company

Listed Companies:

18 Aug 2023 - Present Chairman of Risk Management The One Enterprise Plc.
Corporate Governance and
Sustainability
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Enclosure No.3.1

Period

Position

Company

24 Feb 2023 - Present

Independent Director / Member of
the Audit Committee / Member of
the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

The One Enterprise Plc.

Feb. 2023 - Jun.2024

Member of the Audit Committee /
Independent Director

Srisawad Capital 1969 Plc.

2018 - Present

Adviser

Stonehenge Inter Plc.

2018 - Present

Member of the Audit Committee /
Independent Director

TCM Corporation Plc

2016 - 2020 Advisor to the Chairman CAT Telecom Plc.
2003 - 2005 Assistant Head Director / Director of | MCOT Plc.
Marketing Office
1994 - 1999 Executive Director Grammy Entertainment Plc.
1994 - 1996 Marketing Director Grammy Entertainment Plc.

Non- Listed Company:

2018 - 2020 Director (Authorized Director) GMM Studios International Co., Ltd.

2017 - 2020 Director / Executive Director GMM Channel Holding Co., Ltd.

2016 - 2019 Director C Panel Co., Ltd.

2006 - 2017 Partner JD Partner Co., Ltd.

2001 - 2003 Chief Operation Officer Nation Boardcasting Corporation
Co.,Ltd.

2001 - 2003 Chief Operation Officer Nation Radio Co., Ltd.

1996 - 1999 Managing Director Grammy Television Co.,Ltd.

1990 - 1994 Marketing Manager Grammy Entertainment Co., Ltd.

1987 - 1990 Sales Manager Dai-Ichi Kikaku (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

1984 - 1987 Advertising and public relations Siew National sales and service Co.,

officer

Ltd.

e Other company that may cause any conflict of interest to the Company:

- None -

¢ Relationship in the company/major shareholder/subsidiary/associated company or other conflicted

business entity in present or during the past 2 years:

Type of Relationship

Status / Explanation

1. Being a director who takes part in the management of the company, employee,

staff member, or advisor receiving a regular salary.

-No -

2. Being a professional service provider. (i.e., auditor or legal advisor)

-No -

Enclosure 3.1
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

Enclosure No.3.1

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

3. Having business relationships (i.e., buy-sell materials/products/services or

financial support)

- None -

Area of expertise

e Have knowledge and experience in the Group's business with
expertise (able to provide useful suggestions for business
operations)

¢ Vision and planning

e Strategy

¢ Business Administration and Organization Management

e Marketing

¢ Investment and new business development

e Good Corporate Governance (CG)

¢ Regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand or other regulatory
agencies

Percentage of Share Holding as
of 28 February 2025
(mNN@T 59 LN WIL. NENNINEY)

Direct :- None -
Indirect : - None -

Executive Related Relationship

- None -

Legal Disputes

- None -

Criteria and Recruitment
Procedure

The Board has considered and agreed with the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to propose the reappointment of Mrs.
Duangjai Lorlertwit as an independent director for another term and has
qualifications as an independent director as stipulated in the relevant
laws by being able to give opinions independently. This is in accordance
with the criteria and recruitment process of the Company. (as being
disclosed in the 2024 Annual Report (56-1 One Report) > under the
topic “8.1 Summary of the Board's performance in 2024 > 8.1.1
Recruitment, development and evaluation of the Board's performance >
(1) Recruitment and appointment of the Company's directors

Meeting Attendance in 2024

e The Shareholder Meeting in 2024: Attended 1/ 1 times
o The Board of Directors' Meeting: Attended 7 / 7 times
e The Audit Committee Meeting: Attended 4 / 4 times

e The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s Meeting: Attended
5/5times
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(For consideration of Agenda 5) Enclosure No.3.2

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Name - Surname - Mrs. Duangmanee Sukhum

Age - 58 years

Nationality + Thai

Appointment Date of Directorship - 3 May 2021

Period of Directorship -+ 3yrays11 months (until the date of AGM)

6 years 11 months
(Induding the proposed agenda for this time)

Type of Director to be Appointed - Independent Director
Education
Bachelor of Fine Arts in Architecture, Rhode Island School of Design

Bachelor of Architecture, Rhode Island School of Design

Training Program
Thai Institute of Directors (IOD):

- Program Director Leadership Program (DLCP) Class 9/2022
- Program Board Nomination and Compensation Program (BNCP) Class 1272021
- Program Director Certificate Program (DCP) Class 296 /2020

Position in the Company

3 May 2021 - Present Independent Director
12 Aug 2021 - Present Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Directorship and Executive Position in Other Company

o [Ljsted Company: -None-

o  Non-Listed Company: 4 companies

Period Position Company
2015 - Present Director Kaew Manee Netr Co., Ltd.
2010 - Present Director Viduranadda Co., Ltd.
2002 - Present Director Agora Co., Ltd.

1985 - Present Director Nanthanakul Co., Ltd.

Working Experience (at least for the past 5 years)

Period Position Company

Listed Companies: - None -

Member of the Nomination and

12 Aug. 2021 - Present Remuneration Committee

The One Enterprise Plc.

3 May 2021 - present Independent Director The One Enterprise Plc.
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

Enclosure No.3.2

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Period

Position Company

Non-Listed Company

2015 - Present Director Kaew Manee Netr Co., Ltd.
2010 - Present Director Viduranadda Co., Ltd.
2002 - Present Director Agora Co., Ltd.
1985 - Present Director Nanthanakul Co., Ltd.
2020 - 2 May 2021 Independent Director The One Enterprise Co., Ltd.

e Other company that may cause any conflict of interest to the Company: - None -

e Relationship in the company/major shareholder/subsidiary/associated company or other conflicted

business entity in present or during the past 2 years:

Type of Relationship Status / Explanation
1. Being a director who takes part in the management of the company, employee, ~No -
staff member, or advisor receiving a regular salary.
2. Being a professional service provider. (i.e., auditor or legal advisor) - No -
3. Having business relationship. (i.e., buy-sell materials/products/services or - None -
financial support)

Area of expertise

¢ Visioning and Strategic Planning

e Business Management & Organization

¢ |nvestment and new business development
¢ Good corporate governance

Percentage of Share Holding as of
28 February 2025

(According to Section 59 of the
Securities Act)

Direct :0.03%
Indirect : - None -

Executive Related Relationship

- None -

Legal Disputes

- None -

Criteria and Recruitment Procedure

The Board has considered and agreed with the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to propose the reappointment of Mrs.
Duangmanee Sukhum as an independent director for another term and
has qualifications as an independent director as stipulated in the
relevant laws by being able to give opinions independently. This is in
accordance with the criteria and recruitment process of the Company.
(as being disclosed in the 2024 Annual Report (56-1 One Report) >
under the topic “8.1 Summary of the Board's performance in 2024 >
8.1.1 Recruitment, development and evaluation of the Board's
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(For consideration of Agenda 5) Enclosure No.3.2

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

performance > (1) Recruitment and appointment of the Company's
directors

Meeting Attendance in 2024 e The Shareholder Meeting in 2024: Attended 1/ 1 times
e The Board of Directors' Meeting: Attended 7 /7 times

¢ The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s Meeting:
Attended 5/ 5 times
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(For consideration of Agenda 5) Enclosure No.3.3

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Name - Surname Mr. Piya Sosothikul

Age - 53 years
Nationality - Thai
Appointment Date of Directorship - 3 May 2021
Period of Directorship - 3 Years11months

(until the date of AGM)
6 years 11 months

(Indluding the propased agenda for this time)
Type of Director to be Appointed - Director (Non-Executive Director)

Education
Bachelor's degree in Chemical Engineering and Economics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA.
Master's degree in Chemical Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), USA.

Master of Business Administration, Harvard University, USA.

Training Program

Thai Institute of Directors (IOD):
- Program Directors Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 3572005

- Program Corporate Governance for Capital Market Intermediaries (CGI)  Class 4/2015

Position in the Company

18 Aug 2023 - Present Member of Risk Management Corporate Governance and Sustainability
3 May 2021 - Present Director (Authorized Director)

Directorship and Executive Position in Other Company

o [Ljsted Company : 3 companies

Period Position Company
2019 - Present Chairman of the Risk S&P Syndicate Plc.
Management Committee
2012 - Present Member of the Risk S&P Syndicate Plc.

Management Committee

Independent Director /
Member of Audit Committee /

2011 - Present Member of the Nomination S&P Syndicate Plc.
and Remuneration
Committee

2011 - Present Advisor to Presidents Bangkok Bank Plc.

2007 - Present Dlrectqr/ Executive Bualuang Securities Plc.
Committee Member

o Non-Listed Company: 10 companies
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

Enclosure No.3.3

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Period Position Company
2020 - Present Director Mitta Social Enterprise Co., Ltd.
2018 - Present Director PR Holdings Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present Director Boonraksa Holdings Co., Ltd.

Member of Executive

2016 - Present ; Gris T Co., Ltd.
Committee
2012 - Present Membgr of Executive Siam Housing Co., Ltd.
Committee
2011 - Present Director The Thai Churos Co., Ltd.
2011 - Present Director The Nanyang Marketing Co., Ltd.
2011 - Present Director Nanyang Industry Co., Ltd.

2010 - Present

Director / Managing
Director

Erawanna Co., Ltd.

2004 - Present

Director

Seacon Co., Ltd.

Working Experience (at least for the past 5 years)

Period

Position

Company

Listed Companies:

18 Aug. 2023 - Present

Member of Risk
Management Corporate
Governance and
Sustainability

The One Enterprise Plc.

3 May 2021 - Present

Director (Authorized
Director)

The One Enterprise Plc.

2019 - Present

Chairman of the Risk
Management Committee

S&P Syndicate Plc.

2012 - Present

Member of the Risk
Management Committee

S&P Syndicate Plc.

2011 - Present

Independent Director /
Member of the Audit
Committee /

Member of the
Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

S&P Syndicate Plc.

2011 - Present

Advisor to Presidents

Bangkok Bank Plc.

2007 - Present

Director / Member of
Executive Committee

Bualuang Securities Plc.

12 Mar. 2021 -11 Aug.
2021

Member of the
Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

The One Enterprise Plc.
(The One Enterprise Co., Ltd. transformed
into a listed company on 3 May 2021)
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(For consideration of Agenda 5) Enclosure No.3.3

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Period Position Company

Non - Listed Company:

2020 - Present Director Mitta Social Enterprise Co., Ltd.
2018 - Present Director PR Holdings Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present Director Boonraksa Holdings Co., Ltd.
2016 - Present omber of Executve Gris T Co., Ltd.

2012 - Present gc?z:i:(:ef Executive Siam Housing Co., Ltd.

2011 - Present Director The Thai Churos Co., Ltd.

2011 - Present Director The Nanyang Marketing Co., Ltd.
2011 - Present Director Nanyang Industry Co., Ltd.

Director / Managing

2010 - Present Director

Erawanna Co., Ltd.

2004 - Present Director Seacon Co., Ltd.

Director

2015 -2 May 2021 (Authorized Director)

The One Co., Ltd.

e  Other company that may cause any confiict of interest to the Company: - None -

Area of expertise - Have knowledge and experience in the Group's business
Accounting and Finance

Visioning and Strategic Planning

Business Administration and Organization Management
Marketing

Investment and new business development

Good corporate governance

Information Technology and Digital Business

Risk Management

Regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand or other
regulatory agencies

Percentage of Share Holding Direct :0.08%

as of 28 February 2025 Indirect : - None -

(According to Section 59 of the

Securities Act)

Executive Related Relationship | - None -

Legal Disputes - None -

Criteria and Recruitment The Board has considered and agreed with the Nomination and
Procedure Remuneration Committee to propose the reappointment of

Mr. Piya Sosothikul as a director for another term. This is in
accordance with the criteria and recruitment process of the
Company. (as being disclosed in the 2024 Annual Report (56-1 One
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

Enclosure No.3.3

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for the year 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Report) > under the topic “8.1 Summary of the Board's performance
in 2024 > 8.1.1 Recruitment, development and evaluation of the
Board's performance > (1) Recruitment and appointment of the
Company's directors

Meeting Attendance in 2024

e The Shareholder Meeting in 2024: Attended 1/ 1 times
e The Board of Directors' Meeting: Attended 6 / 7 times

e The Risk Management Corporate Governance and
Sustainability Meeting: Attended 2 / 2 times
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(For consideration of Agenda 5) Enclosure No.3.4

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for theyear 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Name - Surame Mr. Rafah Damrongchaitham

Age - 37 years
Nationality - Thai
Appointment Date of Directorship - 3 May 2021
Period of Directorship - 3years11 months

(until the date of AGM)
6 years 11 months

(Indluding the propased agenda for this time)
Type of Director to be Appointed - Director (Executive Director)

Education

Bachelor’s degree in Communication, University of Southern California, USA

Training Program

Thai Institute of Directors (I0D):
- Program Directors Accreditation Program (DAP) Class 184 /2021

Position in the Company

18 Aug. 2023 - Present Member of Risk Management Corporate Governance and Sustainability
3 May 2021 - Present Director (Authorized Director)

31 May 2017 - Present Member of Executive Committee

1 Mar 2021 - Present Chief Group Marketing Officer

Directorship and Executive Position in Other Company

o Ljsted Company : - None -

o Non-Listed Company: 17 companies

Period Position Company
3 Dec. 2024 - Present Director (Authorized Director) Happy Holding and Consultant Co., Ltd.
3 Dec. 2024 - Present Director (Authorized Director) GMM X One Co., Ltd.
1 Aug. 2024 - Present Director (Authorized Director) Wanthong Holdings Co., Ltd.
2 Jul. 2024 - present Director GDH 559 Co., Ltd
21 Feb. 2024 - present Director (Authorized Director) Gingerx Co., Ltd.
16 Nov. 2023 - Present Director (Authorized Director) Tifa Studios Co., Ltd.
16 Jan. 2023 - 27 Dec. Director (Authorized Director) Pen 1 F&B Co., Ltd.
2024
5 Jan.2023 - Present Director (Authorized Director) Good Things Happen Co., Ltd.
1 Jan. 2023 - present Executive Committee GMM O Shopping Co., Ltd.
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for theyear 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Enclosure No.3.4

Period

Position

Company

22 Dec.2022 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Parbdee Tawesuk Co.,Ltd.

9 Nov. 2022 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

One Sanook Co., Ltd.

7 Jul. 2022 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Fuchsia and Eden Co., Ltd.

2021 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Watermelon Holding Company Co., Ltd.

30 Nov. 2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Studios International Co., Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Fah Damrongchaitham Company Co.,
Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Channel Holding Co., Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Media Plc.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Change 2018 Co., Ltd.

30 Nov. 2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

A Time Media Co., Ltd.

24 Nov. 2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Media Plc.

2018 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM TV Co., Ltd.

2019 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Jazzclub Company Co., Ltd.

2019 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Geurtfah Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Liberation Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Canvas Restaurant Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

One 31 Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Exact Scenario Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Act Studios Co., Ltd.

2015 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Tango Tonight Co., Ltd.

2007 - Present

Director

Damrongchaitham Foundation

Working Experience (at least for the past 5 years)

Period

Position

Company

Listed Companies:

18 Aug.2023 - Present

Member of Risk Management
Corporate Governance and
Sustainability

The One Enterprise Plc.

3 May 2021 - present

Director (Authorized Director)

The One Enterprise Plc.

1 Mar. 2021 - present

Group Chief Marketing Officer

The One Enterprise Plc.

31 May 2017 - Present

Member of the Executive
Committee

The One Enterprise Plc.
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(For consideration of Agenda 5)

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for theyear 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Enclosure No.3.4

Period Position Company
2011 -2011 Assistant Product Manager GMM Grammy Plc.
2009 - 2011 Marketing Officer GMM Grammy Plc.

Non-Listed Company

2021 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Watermelon Holding Company Co.,
Ltd.

2021 - Feb 2022

Chief Executive Officer (Acting)

GMM Studios International Co., Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Fah Damrongchaitham Company Co.,
Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Channel Holding Co., Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Media Plc.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Change 2018 Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM TV Co., Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

GMM Studios International Co., Ltd.

2020 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

A Time Media Co., Ltd.

Oct 2019 - Feb 2021

Chief Marketing Officer

The One Enterprise Co., Ltd.

2019 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Jazzclub Company Co., Ltd.

2019 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Geurtfah Co., Ltd.

2019 -2020

Director

O Shopping Co., Ltd.

2018 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Liberation Co., Ltd.

2018 - Oct 2019

Chief Marketing Officer

One 31 Co., Ltd.

2018 - 2018

Executive Vice President

One 31 Co., Ltd.

2018-2018

Executive Vice President

The One Enterprise Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Canvas Restaurant Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

One 31 Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Exact Scenario Co., Ltd.

2017 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Act Studios Co., Ltd.

2015 - Present

Director (Authorized Director)

Tango Tonight Co., Ltd.

2015-2018 Production Management Director The One Enterprise Co., Ltd.
2015 - 2015 Production Management Director One 31 Co., Ltd.
2013 -2015 Chief Operating Officer Z Trading Co., Ltd.
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Enclosure No.3.4

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Profile of the directors who retired by rotation for theyear 2025
and be proposed to act as Company’s director for another term.
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

Period Position Company
2013 -2013 Chief Operating Officer GMM Z Co., Ltd.
2012 -2013 Marketing Director GMM Z Co., Ltd.
2011 -2012 Marketing Director GMM One Sky Co., Ltd.
2007 - Present Director Damrongchaitham Foundation

e Other company that may cause any confiict of interest to the Company : - None -

Area of expertise

Have knowledge and experience in the Group's business
Visioning and Strategic Planning

Business Administration and Organization Management
Marketing

Investment and new business development

Good corporate governance

Information Technology and Digital Business

Percentage of Share Holding
as of 28 February 2025

(According to Section 59 of the
Securities Act)

Direct :0.13%
Indirect : - None -

- Son of Mr. Paiboon Damrongchaitham (Chairman of the Board of

Executive Related Relationship Director) . ) -
- Ms. Ingfah Damrongchaitham (Director) are siblings of the same
parents.
Legal Disputes - None -

Criteria and Recruitment
Procedure

The Board has considered and agreed with the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to propose the reappointment of Mr. Rafah
Damrongchaitham as a director for another term. This is in
accordance with the criteria and recruitment process of the
Company. (As being disclosed in the 2024 Annual Report (56-1 One
Report) > under the topic “8.1 Summary of the Board's performance
in 2024 > 8.1.1 Recruitment, development and evaluation of the
Board's performance > (1) Recruitment and appointment of the
Company's directors

Meeting Attendance in 2024

e The Shareholder Meeting in 2024: Attended 1/ 1 times
e The Board of Directors' Meeting: Attended 7/ 7 times

e The Risk Management Corporate Governance and
Sustainability Meeting: Attended 2 / 2 times

e The Executive Committee’s Meeting: Attended 11/ 11 times
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Enclosure 3.5

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

Qualifications of the Independent Director
The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

The qualification of the Company’s independent director is in compliance with (equal to) the minimum
requirement of the Office of Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of
Thailand, which is in accordance with the Notification of the Capital Market Supervisory Board. The details are
as followings:

1.

Holding no more than 1% of the Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associate companies, the
Company’s major shareholders or controlling parties’ total voting shares including the shareholding of
persons related to the independent director.

Not currently be or never been the Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associate companies,
subsidiaries at the same level, the Company’s major shareholders or controlling parties’s executive
director, worker, employee, salaried consultant, or controlling parties. Exception: It has been at least two
years after the person has held the position before assuming the position of the Audit Committee
Director. Such prohibited characteristics exclude the case that the independent director has been a civil
servant or a consultant of a state agency which is the Company’s major shareholder or controlling
parties.

Not by blood or legally registered as father, mother, spouse, family member and child including spouse
of child with other directors, executives, major shareholders, controlling parties, or persons who will be
nominated as directors, executives, or controlling parties of the Company or subsidiaries.

Not currently having or never had any relations with the Company, the parent company, subsidiaries,
associate companies, the Company’s major shareholders or controlling parties in the way that such
relation may impede the person from having independent views. Also, the person should not currently
be or never be a significant shareholder or controlling person for persons having business relations with
the Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associate companies, subsidiaries at the same level,
the Company’s major shareholders or controlling parties. Exception: It has been at least two years after
the person has held the position.

Such the business relationship extends from normal trade transactions in operating property rent or
lease, transactions concerning assets or services or providing or accepting financial assistance through
means of borrowings or lending, a guarantee, use of assets as collaterals against debts, to other
equivalent actions which result in the Company or a contractual party having debt obligations for
repayment to the other party in the amount of 3% of the Company's net tangible assets or higher, or 20
million baht or more, whichever is lower. Meanwhile, the calculation of the debt obligations shall follow
the calculation method for value of related-parties transactions according to notifications of the Capital
Market Supervisory Board on the principles for related-parties transactions. It is inclusive of debt
obligations arising within one year prior to the date of business relation with the same party.

Not currently being or never been the Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associate
companies, the Company’s major shareholders or controlling parties’ auditor. Also, the person should
not currently be or never be a significant shareholder, controlling person, or partners of the Company,
the parent company, subsidiaries, associate companies, the Company’s major shareholders or
controlling parties’ current auditor’s auditing firm. Exception: It has been at least two years after the
person has held the position.

Not currently be providing or never provided professional services, legal consulting, nor financial
consulting services to the Company, the parent company, subsidiaries, associate companies, the
Company’s major shareholders or controlling parties with a fee more than 2 million baht per year. Also,
the person should not currently be or never be a significant shareholder, controlling person, or partners
of current service providers.

Exception: It has been at least two years after the person has held the position.
Not currently a director appointed to represent the Company’s directors, major shareholders, or the
shareholder related to the major shareholders.

Not currently be operating under similar business nature and significant competition to the Company or
subsidiaries; or not a significant partner of the partnership, executive director, worker, employee, or
salaried consultant; or holding more than 1% of voting shares of any other companies operating under
similar business nature and significant competition to the Company and subsidiaries.

Not under any conditions that may impede the person from having independent views toward the
Company’s operations.
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Details of the Independent Directors Proposed as Proxy Holders
for the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
through electronic meeting (E-AGM)

. Special
Name Position Age Address alrgﬁ::leas:tlenm Interest in
g agenda item *
1. Miss Suvabha - Chairman of the Audit 61 No. 68/32 Prive by Agenda 6 None
Charoenying Committee years | Snasiri Soi
Independent Director Ruamruedi _Plloenchlt
Rd., Lumphini,
Chairman of the Pathum Wan,
Nomination and Bangkok 10330
Remuneration
Committee
2. Mrs. Duangjai - Independent Director 62 No. 23 Soi Agenda 6 Agenda 5
Lorlertwit _ Chairman of Risk years | Pibulwattana
Management Building, Rama 6 _
Corporate Road, Sam_ Sen Nai,
Governance and ghayi Tkha1'b 400
Sustainability angrox.
Member of the Audit
Committee
Member of the
Nomination and
Remuneration
Committee

*

Special Interest Special interest means having a special interest that is different from other directors in every
agenda item proposed, include receive the benefits or compensation beyond the normal criteria.

** Additional condition as per Department of Business Development’s Announcement dated February 4, 2013
regarding Proxy Granting, Proxy Holders’ Voting Rights, and Delivery of an Invitation to Shareholders’
Meeting of Public Company

G. The vote casting of a proxy holder is considered as a vote made on behalf of a proxy grantor. Therefore, a
proxy holder, including those proxy holders who are independent directors that may have conflict of
interest in any agenda, can still cast a vote on that agenda, on behalf of a proxy grantor who has no
conflict of interest.

Note:

Agenda 5: To approve the appointment of directors in place of those who are due to retire by rotation for the
year 2025.

Agenda 6: To approve the remunerations of the Board of Directors and subcommittees for the year 2025.
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The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

The Company’s Articles of Association Concerning the Shareholders’ Meeting

CHAPTER YV
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Article 19. The Company shall have a board of directors which consists of at least five (5) directors and not less
Than one-half (1/2) of the total number of directors shall reside in the Kingdom of Thailand. The
board of directors shall elect one director to be the chairman of the board of directors and may elect
one or several directors the vice-chairman and may elect other positions as it deems appropriate.
The vice-chairman shall have duties according to the Article of Association in respect of the missions
delegated to him/her in by the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

A director is not required to be the shareholder of the Company.
Article 20. The shareholders meeting shall elect directors in accordance with the following rules and procedures:
(1) One shareholder shall have one (1) vote per one (1) share;

(2) Each of shareholder may exercise all the votes he/she has under (1) to elect one or several
persons as director or directors. In case where election directors of the Company, the
shareholder cannot split his or her votes between more than one person or in the basis extent;

(3) The persons obtaining the highest votes in descending order shall be elected as directors equal
to the number of the directors required at such meeting. In case several persons obtain equal
votes, and the number of candidates exceeds the number of the directors to be elected, the
chairman of the meeting shall have a casting vote.

Article 21. At every annual general meeting, one-third (1/3) of directors at that time shall retire. If the number of
directors is not a multiple of three, then the number of directors nearest to one-third (1/3) shall be
retired.

The directors to retire in the first and second years after the registration of the Company shall be
selected by drawing lots. In subsequent years, the directors having held longest shall retire.

The directors retiring from office may be re-elected.

Article 25. In the case where the whole board of directors vacate office, the vacated board of directors shall
remain in office to conduct the business of the company as necessary, until the new board of
directors takes office, unless otherwise ordered by the court removing the board of directors from
office.

In case the board of directors vacate the office, such directors must hold a meeting of shareholders
to elect a new board of directors within one (1)month as from the date of vacancy, by serving a
written notice calling a meeting of shareholders not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the date of
the meeting and the notice calling the meeting has been published in a newspaper or published
through electronic media not less than three (3) consecutive days prior to the date of the meeting.

Article 26. A meeting of shareholders removes any director from office before the expiration of his/her term by a
passing a resolution with the votes not less than three-quarters (3/4) of the total number of
shareholders attending the meeting and eligible to vote and holding in aggregate number of shares
not less than one-half of the total number of shares held by the shareholders attending the meeting
and eligible to vote at the meeting.

Article 27. The board of directors must perform its duties and carry on the business of the Company in
accordance with the laws, the Company’s objectives and Articles of Association, including any the
resolutions of the shareholder's meetings. The board of directors may appoint one or more persons
to perform any task on its behalf.

The board of directors may appoint one or more persons to perform any tasks on its behalf.
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The Company’s Articles of Association Concerning the Shareholders’ Meeting

Article 31. No Director shall, either for his/her own benefit or the benefit of others, operate any business which
has the same nature as and is in competition with the business of the Company or become a partner
in an ordinary partnership or become a partner with unlimited liability in any limited partnership or
become a director of any limited company or public limited companies which has the same nature
and is in competition with the business of the Company, unless he or she has notified to the
shareholders meeting prior to the resolution for his or her appointment.

Article 33. The directors shall be entitled to receive remuneration from the Company in the form of award,
meeting allowance, gratuity, bonus or benefits of other nature as considered and approved by the
shareholders meeting by a vote of not less than two-third (2/3) of the total votes of shareholders
attending the meeting. The remuneration may be fixed in a certain amount, or be specified from time
to time, or be in effect until a change by a resolution of the shareholders meeting. The directors shall
also be entitled to receive per diem allowances and other fringe benefits in accordance with the
Company's regulations.

The provision in the first paragraph shall not prejudice the rights of the staff or employees of the
Company, who have been appointed as directors, to receive the remuneration or benefits as a staff
or an employee of the Company.

Article 34. The directors who authorize to sign on behalf of the Company are:
Any Three (3) directors jointly sign with the Company seal affixed.

The board of directors shall be authorized to determine the names of the directors authorized to sign
on behalf of the Company.

CHAPTER VI
MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Article 35. The shareholders’ meeting may be conducted via electronic media as provided in the law on
electronic meeting. The board of directors shall arrange for an Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders to be held within four (4) months of the last day of the accounting year of the Company.

The shareholders’ meeting other than the meeting mentioned in the first paragraph shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting. The board of directors may call such an extraordinary general
meeting at any time it deems appropriate or one or more shareholders holding shares amounting to
not less than ten (10) percent of the total number of shares sold may submit their request for the
board of directors to call an extraordinary general meeting at any time, but the subject and the
reasons for calling such a meeting must be clearly stated in the request in which case the board of
directors shall call a shareholders’ meeting to be held within forty-five (45) days of the date of receipt
of such a request from shareholders.

If the board of directors does not arrange for the meeting of shareholders within the period as
mentioned in the second paragraph, the shareholders who subscribe their names or other
shareholders holding shares amounting to the required amount may call the meeting themselves
within forty-five (45) days as from the date on which the period as mentioned in second paragraph
ends. In this case, the meeting is deemed a shareholders meeting called by the board of directors
and the Company shall be responsible for the necessary expenses incurred from convening the
meeting and shall reasonably facilitate the meeting. In the event that the shareholders call the
meeting by themselves as in the second paragraph. The shareholders who calling a meeting may
send a meeting notice to shareholders by electronic method. If that shareholder has informed the
intention or given consent to the company or the board of directors.

In the case where the number of shareholders present at the meeting convened by the shareholders
under the third paragraph is not sufficient to constitute a quorum as required in Article 37, the
shareholders under the third paragraph shall be jointly responsible to the Company for the expenses
incurred from the convening of such Meeting.

Enclosure 5 Page 2/9 The One Enterprise Public Company Limited




Enclosure 5

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

The Company’s Articles of Association Concerning the Shareholders’ Meeting

Article 36. In calling a shareholders’ meeting, whether in person meeting and/or a meeting via that electronic
media, the board of directors shall prepare a notice thereof specifying the place, date and time,
agendas of the meeting and the matters to be proposed to the meeting together with proper details
by indicating whether they are proposed for acknowledgement, approval or consideration, as the
case maybe, including opinions of the board of directors thereon. The notice of such meeting shall be
sent to the shareholders and the registrar not less than seven (7 ) days prior to the date of the
meeting and be published in a newspaper or published through electronic media for not less than
three (3) consecutive days not less than three (3) days prior to the date of the meeting.

The shareholders’ meeting may be held in the province in which the head office of the Company is
located or in any other place in Kingdom of Thailand as specified by the board of directors. and/or
arrange a meeting via electronic media as provided in the law on electronic meeting. And it shall be
deemed that head office of the company is the meeting venue.

Article 37. At a shareholders’ meeting, regardless of whether the shareholders’ meeting is conducted in the
physical same place or by electronic meeting, at least twenty-five (25) shareholders and proxies (if
any), or not less than one-half (1 /2 ) of the total number of shareholders, holding an aggregate
number of shares not less than one-third (1/3) of the total shares sold, must attend the meeting to
constitute a quorum.

At any shareholders’ meeting, in case where one (1) hour has passed since the time for which the
meeting is scheduled and the number of shareholders attending the meeting has not constituted a
quorum under the first paragraph, if the meeting is called by a request of shareholders, such meeting
shall be cancelled. If the meeting is not called by the request of shareholders, another meeting shall
be called, and the notice of the meeting shall be sent to the shareholders not less than seven (7)
days prior to the date of the meeting. At this subsequent meeting, no quorum is required to be
constituted.

Article 38. At a meeting of shareholders, the shareholder may appoint other person to attend who has reached
the age of majority, any person, and vote at any meeting on his behalf. The instrument appointing a
proxy shall be made in write the dated and signed by the shareholder who is the principle and, in a
form, as prescribed by the registrar pursuant to the laws governing public limited company. The
proxy-holder shall submit the proxy to the chairman of the board of directors or the person
designated by the chairman of the board of directors at the place of the meeting before the proxy-
holder attends the meeting. The proxy shall contain, at least, the following particulars:

(1) the number of shares held by the shareholder;
(2) the name of the proxy;
(3) the time of the meeting where the proxy is authorized to attend the meeting and vote.

The proxy the first paragraph may be performed by electronic method instead. The methods and
criteria for appointing a proxy by electronic method shall be in accordance with the law, notifications
or criteria prescribed by the Registrar.

Article 39. The chairman of the board of directors shall preside over a shareholders’ meeting. In case the
chairman is absent or unable to perform the duty, the vice-chairman shall act as the presiding
chairman. If there is no vice-chairman, or the vice-chairman is absent or unable to perform the duty,
the shareholders present at the meeting shall elect one amongst themselves to preside over the
meeting.

Article 40. In vote casting at the shareholders’ meeting, each shareholder shall have voting rights equal to the
number of shares held, one (1) vote for each share of which he is holder. Voting shall be conducted
openly, except that voting shall be by secret ballot where so requested by not less than five
subscribers and so resolved by the meeting, in which case the procedure for voting by secret ballot
shall be as determined by the person presiding over the meeting.

Article 41. A resolution of a meeting of shareholders requires votes as follows:
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(1) in a normal case, a majority of votes of the shareholders present and voting at the meeting is
required, provided that in the case of an equality of votes, the person presiding over the meeting
shall have an additional vote as a casting vote;

(2) in any of the following cases, votes of not less than three-fourths (3/4) of the total number of
votes of shareholders present at the meeting and entitled to vote are required:

(a) selling or transferring the undertaking of the company, in whole or in substantial part, to any
other person,;

(b) purchasing or taking a transfer of the undertaking of any other company or a private
company to be owned by the company; or

(c) concluding, modifying or terminating any contract concerning the granting of a lease of the
company’s undertaking in whole or in substantial part, the entrusting of any other person to
manage the business of the company, or an amalgamation of the undertaking with any
other person with a view to sharing profits and loss;

d) amendment to the Memorandum of Association or Articles of Association;

e) increase or decrease of the registered capital of the Company;

—
=

merger of business with other company;

g) execution of any other matters required by laws to obtain a vote of not less than three-
fourth (3/4) of the total votes of the shareholders attending the meeting and entitled to vote.

Article 42. Businesses to be duly transacted at an annual general meeting are as follows:

(1) To acknowledge the report of the board of directors on the Company's business operations
during the previous year;

(2) To consider and approve the statement of financial position and the profit and loss account as at
the end of the accounting year of the Company;

(3) To approve the appropriation of profits and dividend payment;

(4) To elect directors in place of those retired by rotation, and to fix remuneration for directors;
(5) To appoint auditors and to fix audit fee; and

(6) To consider other businesses

CHAPTER VII
SUPERVISORY AND MANAGEMENT IN SUBSIDIARY OPERATING MAIN BUSINESS

The provisions in this chapter are intended to set measures and mechanisms, both direct and indirect,
so that the Company can supervise and manage business operation of a subsidiary operating main business.
This includes monitoring the subsidiaries’ compliance, as if it is their own function, also in accordance with the
Company’s policies, the laws governing public limited companies, the laws governing securities and exchange,
and relevant laws, announcement, regulations, and other related criteria of the Capital Market Supervisory
Board, SEC, and SET. The “subsidiary operating main business” means the subsidiary that operates the
business of producing programs for broadcasting on television, radio and online channels, which is the main
business.

Article 43. Any transaction or action of a subsidiary operating main business of the following cases must be
approved by the board of directors' meeting. and/or the Company's shareholders' meeting (as the
case may be)

(1) The Matters that must get approval from a meeting of the board of directors of the Company:

(a) Appointment or nomination of persons as director or executive in a subsidiary operating
main business for at least in accordance with the proportion of the Company’s shareholding
in the subsidiary, except that this Articles of Association or the corporate governance policy
of the Company's subsidiaries or the board of directors stipulates otherwise, with the
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director or executive nominated by the Company having judgments in voting in a meeting of
the board of directors of the subsidiary on matters related to general management and
normal business operations of the subsidiary as deemed appropriate by the director and
executive of the subsidiary for maximum benefits of the Company and/or the subsidiary (as
the case may be), except for the matters requiring approval from the board of directors'
meeting and/or the shareholders' meeting of the Company.

The nominated director or executive in the above paragraph must be a person listed in the
information system of directors and executives of securities issuing companies (White List),
including qualifications, roles, duties and responsibilities, not possessing characteristics
lacking credibility under SEC’s notification prescribing the characteristics lacking credibility
of company directors and executives.

Approval of the payments of annual dividends and interim dividends (if any) of a subsidiary
operating main business, except the case that the subsidiary pays dividends for the whole
year not less than the amount specified in the annual consolidated budget of each
company.

Amendment of the articles of association of a subsidiary operating main business, except
for the amendment of articles of association on significant matters under Article 43 (2) (b)
that must be approved by a meeting of the shareholders of the Company.

Approval of the annual budget of a subsidiary operating main business, except the case
that is specified in the Delegation of Authority which has been approved by the board of
directors' meeting.

Capital increase by issuing capital increase shares of the subsidiary operating main
business and share allotment including registered capital reduction of the subsidiary
operating main business that will change shareholding proportion of the existing
shareholders or that will result in the direct and/or indirect proportion of the vote of the
Company in a meeting of the shareholders of the subsidiary, in any level of the
subsidiaries, decreasing more than ten (10) percent of the total registered capital of the
subsidiary, or the vote of meeting of the shareholders of the subsidiary (as the case may
be), except the case that the business plan or the annual budget of the subsidiary operating
main business which has been approved by the board of directors of the Company.

The items from (f) to (n) are deemed to have materiality that will have significant impact on
financial position and operating results of the subsidiary operating main business. Therefore,
before the subsidiary operating main business will have the board of directors’ meeting, there is
a need to have prior approval in the matters from the board of directors of the Company. This
must be the case when consider the nature of transaction, such as the transaction size and the
person who enter into a transaction as prescribed in the notifications of the Capital Market
Supervisory Board and the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand regarding
acquisition or disposal of assets and/or regarding connected transactions (as the case may be),
mutatis mutandis, the results under the cases that have to be approved by the Board of
Directors. The transactions are as follows:

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

The subsidiary operating main business agrees to enter into a transaction with a connected
person of the Company or the subsidiary operating main business or a transaction related
to the acquisition or disposal of assets of the subsidiary operating main business.

Transfer or waiver of a benefit including waiver of claims against the person causing
damage to the subsidiary operating main business.

Sale or transfer of the whole business or important part of the business of subsidiary
operating main business to others.

Purchase or accept the transfer of business from another company to belong to the
subsidiary operating main business;

Entering into, revising, or terminating an agreement related to the lease of the whole
business or important part of the business of the subsidiary operating main business,
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delegating others to manage business of the subsidiary operating main business or
merging business of the subsidiary operating main business with other persons, with the
purpose of sharing profit and loss;

(k) Rent or lease of the whole business or assets of the subsidiary operating main business or
significant part thereof;

() Borrowing money, lending money, granting credit, guarantee, entering into a binding legal
activity causing an increased financial burden to the subsidiary operating main business, or
providing financial assistance in any other manner to other persons and that is not a normal
business of the subsidiary operating main business, except for loans between the
Company and the subsidiaries operating main business or between subsidiaries within the
Company's group.

(m) Dissolution of the subsidiary operating main business.

(n) Any other transaction that is not a normal business transaction of the subsidiary operating
main business and is a transaction with significant impact on the subsidiary operating main
business.

(2) The matters that must get approval from a meeting of the shareholders of the Company with the
votes of not less than three-fourths (3/4) of the total number of votes of the shareholders present
and entitled to vote:

(a) A subsidiary operating main business agreeing to enter into a transaction with a connected
person of the Company or the subsidiary operating main business, or a transaction related
to an acquisition or disposal of assets of the subsidiary operating main business. This case
must be approved by a meeting of the shareholders of the Company.

(b) Amendment of the articles of association of the subsidiary operating main business on
matters that may have significant impact on the financial position and operating results of
the subsidiary, including but not limited to amending the articles of association of the
subsidiary operating main business that may affect the vote of the Company in a meeting of
the board of directors of the subsidiary operating main business and/or a meeting of the
shareholders of the subsidiary operating main business or the dividend payment of the
subsidiary operating main business etc.

(c) Dissolution of a subsidiary.

The items from (d) to (n) are deemed to have materiality that will have significant impact on
financial position and operating results of the subsidiary operating main business. Therefore,
before the subsidiary operating main business will have the meeting of the shareholders, there
is a need to have prior approval in the matters from the board of directors of the Company. This
must be the case when consider the nature of transaction, such as the transaction size and the
person who enter into a transaction as prescribed in the notifications of the Capital Market
Supervisory Board and the Board of Governors of the Stock Exchange of Thailand regarding
acquisition or disposal of assets and/or regarding connected transactions (as the case may be),
mutatis mutandis, the results under the cases that have to be approved by the meeting of the
shareholders of the Company. The transactions are as follows:

(d) A subsidiary operating main business agreeing to enter into a transaction with a connected
person of the Company or the subsidiary operating main business or a transaction related
to an acquisition or disposal of assets of the subsidiary operating main business.

(e) Capital increase by issuing capital increase shares of the subsidiary operating main
business and share allotment including registered capital reduction of the subsidiary
operating main business that will change shareholding proportion of the existing
shareholders or that will result in the direct and/or indirect proportion of the vote of the
Company in a meeting of the shareholders of the subsidiary, in any level of the
subsidiaries, decreasing more than the proportion stipulated in the law applicable to the
subsidiary, resulting in the Company having no control over subsidiaries operating main
business.
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(f) Transfer or waiver of a benefit including waiver of claims against the person causing
damage to the subsidiary operating main business.

(g) Sale or transfer of the whole business or important part of the business of subsidiary
operating main business to others

(h) Purchase or accept the transfer of business from another company to belong to the
subsidiary operating main business;

(i) Entering into, revising, or terminating an agreement related to the lease of the whole
business or important part of the business of the subsidiary operating main business,
delegating others to manage business of the subsidiary operating main business or
merging business of the subsidiary operating main business with other persons, with the
purpose of sharing profit and loss;

(i) Rent or lease of the whole business or assets of the subsidiary operating main business or
significant part thereof;

(k) Borrowing money, lending money, granting credit, guarantee, entering into a binding legal
activity causing an increased financial burden to the subsidiary operating main business, or
providing financial assistance in any other manner to other persons and that is not a normal
business of the subsidiary operating main business, except for loans between the
Company and the subsidiaries operating main business or between subsidiaries within the
Company's group.

(I) Dissolution of the subsidiary operating main business.

(m) Any other transaction that is not a normal business transaction of the subsidiary operating
main business and is a transaction with significant impact on the subsidiary operating main
business.

In the case where the provisions in this chapter require that any transaction or action, which have
significant impact on financial position and operating results of the subsidiary operating main
business, need to have approval from the board of directors of the Company or the meeting of the
shareholders of the Company (as the case may be), therefore, the director of the Company has the
duty to set the board of directors’ meeting of the Company or the meeting of the shareholders’
meeting of the Company (as the case may be) to consider and approve such matter before the
subsidiary operating main business convenes a meeting of its board of directors and/or its
shareholders to consider and approve before entering into a transaction or taking action on such
matter; in this regard, the Company shall disclose the information and comply criteria, conditions,
procedures and methods relating to the matter to be approved are as stipulated in the public limited
companies law, civil and commercial code, securities and exchange law, other relevant laws, and
notifications, regulations and rules of the Capital Market Supervisory Board, Securities and
Exchange Commission and the Stock Exchange of Thailand, mutatis mutandis (Insofar as it is not
conflicting or inconsistent with each other), completely and accurately.

CHAPTER VIII
INCREASE AND REDUCTION OF CAPITAL

Article 45. The Company may increase its registered capital by issuing new shares. The issuance of new
shares under paragraph one may be made when:

(1) all shares have been sold and fully paid-up or, in the case where shares have not fully been
sold, the remaining shares must be ones issued in accommodation of convertible debentures or
share warrants;

(2) the issuance has been approved by a resolution of a meeting of shareholders with the votes of
not less than three-fourths (3/4) of the total number of votes of the shareholders present and
entitled to vote; and
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(3) registration has been made with the registrar, in pursuance of such resolution, for an alteration
of the registered capital within fourteen (14) days as from the date on which such resolution was
passed by the meeting;

Article 46. The Company may offer for sale, in whole or in part, the additionally issued share and may offere for
sale to existing shareholders in proportion to the number of shares held by each shareholder or may
offer for sale to the public or to other persons in whole or in part, in accordance with the resolution of
the meeting of shareholders.

Article 47. The Company may reduce its registered capital by reducing the value of each share or reducing the
number of shares, upon approval by a resolution of a meeting of shareholders with the votes of not
less than three-fourths (3/4) of the total number of votes of the shareholders present at the meeting
and entitled to vote.

The Company shall not reduce the capital to be below one-fourth (1/4) of the total capital. Unless the
case where the company has incurred accumulated loss and, after making compensation for the
accumulated loss respectively by law, such accumulated loss remains, the Company may reduce its
capital to the amount below one-fourth (1/4) of the total capital.

The reduction of the capital to the amount below one-fourth (1/4) of the total capital under the second
paragraph shall be made only upon approval by a resolution of a meeting of shareholders with the
votes of not less than three-fourths (3/4) of the total number of votes of the shareholders present at
the meeting and entitled to vote, provided that the company must cause such resolution to be
registered within fourteen (14) days as from the date on which such resolution was passed by the
meeting.

Article 48. Upon the Company intends to reduce its capital, the Company must, in writing, notify its known
creditors of the resolution for such capital reduction within fourteen (14 ) days as from the date on
which such resolution was passed by the meeting of shareholders and specify, in the notification, that
objections may be sent within two (2) months as from the date of receipt of the notification of such
resolution, and the Company shall also publish such resolution in a newspaper or published through
electronic media, ,not less than three (3) consecutive days, within the said fourteen (14 ) day time
limit.

CHAPTER IX
DIVIDEND AND RESERVE

Article 49. Dividends shall not be paid out of any type of funds other than out of profit. In case the Company still
has accumulated loss, no dividends shall be paid.

Dividends shall be distributed according to the number of shares on an equal basis. Payment of
dividends shall be approved by the shareholders meeting.

In the case where a company has not sold its shares up to the registered number or has registered
an increase of its capital, the company may pay the whole or part of its dividends by issuing new
ordinary shares to shareholders with the approval of a meeting of shareholders.

Article 50. The board of directors may pay interim dividends to shareholders from time to time, upon viewing
that the Company has adequate profit to do so. The payment of interim dividends shall be reported to
the shareholders at the next shareholders meeting.

Payment of dividends shall be made within one (1) month from the date the resolution therefor has
been passed by the shareholders meeting or by the board of directors, as the case maybe. A written
notice of dividend payment shall be sent to the shareholders and also be published in a newspaper
or published through electronic media, for not less than three (3) consecutive days.

Article 51. The Company must appropriate part of its annual net profits to a reserve fund in an amount of not
less than five (5) percent of the annual net profits with the deduction therefrom the amount
representing the accumulated loss carried forwards (if any) until this reserve fund reaches the
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amount of not less than ten (10) percent of the registered capital. In addition to such reserve fund,
the board of directors may propose that the shareholders' meeting pass a resolution to allocate other
reserve funds as it is deemed to be advantage in the operation of the Company.

The Company may, upon approval by a meeting of shareholders, transfer any other reserve funds,
the reserve fund by law and the surplus reserve fund respectively in compensation for its
accumulated loss.

CHAPTER X
ACCOUNTING, FINANCES AND AUDITS

Article 52. The accounting period of the Company shall commence on 15t January and end on 315t December of
every year.

Article 54. The board of directors shall arrange for the preparation of the balance sheet or statement of financial
position, and the profit and loss account as at the end of the accounting period and propose them to
the annual general meeting of shareholders for consideration and approval. The board of directors
shall arrange for the auditor to complete the auditing before proposing them to the shareholders
meeting.

Article 55. The board of directors shall send the following documents to the shareholders together with the
notice of the annual general meeting:

(1) A copy of the audited balance sheet or statement of financial position, and the profit and loss
account, together with the auditor's report; and

(2) An annual report of the board of directors, together with supporting documents.

Article 56. The board of directors must make available and keep a register of directors, the minutes of meetings
of the board of directors and the minutes of meetings of shareholders at the principal business office
of the company but the company may entrust any person to keep such documents and register on its
behalf at the locality where the its principal business office is located or in a nearby province,
provided that prior notification thereof shall be given to the registrar pursuant to the laws governing
public limited company.

Article 57. The auditors shall be elected every year at an annual general meeting of shareholders. A retiring
auditor is eligiblefor re-election. The remuneration of the auditors shall be determined as
appropriated in any general meeting.

Article 59. The auditor has the right to prepare written explanations for submission to a meeting of shareholders
and is obligated to be present at every meeting of shareholders at which a balance-sheet, a profit
and loss account and any problem concerning accounts of the company is scheduled to be
considered, for giving shareholders explanations on the auditing, and the company shall also furnish
the auditor with the company’s reports and documents which are to be received by shareholders at
such meeting of shareholders.
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You can submit questions in advance of the meeting date, please sending Form for Submitting Question in Advance for the 2025 AGM via Electronic Media (E-AGM) to the
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The One Enterprise Public Company Limited, No.50, GMM Grammy Place, Sukhumvit 21 Road (Asoke), Khlongtoeinuea, Wattana, Bangkok 10110.
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Enclosure 7

The ONE Enterprise Public Company Limited

QR Code Downloading Procedures for Documents of the shareholders' meeting and
the annual registration statement /the 2024 Annual Report (Form 56-1 One Report)

The Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd., as a securities registrar under the Stock Exchange
of Thailand, has developed a system which allows SET Listed Companies to send to the
shareholders documents regarding the General Meeting of Shareholders and the annual
registration statement /the 2024 Annual Report (Form 56-1 One Report) in the form of E-books
accessible through QR Code, thus allows the shareholders to access the information with ease.
The aforementioned documents could be downloaded from the QR Code by following the steps
below.

For iOS Operating System (iOS 11 and above)
1. Turn on the mobile phone camera.
2. Turn the mobile phone camera to the QR Code to scan it.
3. The notification will appear on top of the screen. Click on the notification to access
documents regarding the meeting.
Remark: If the notification does not appear on the mobile phone, the QR Code can be
scanned with other applications such as QR CODE READER, Facebook or
Line.

For Android Operating System
1. Open applications such as QR CODE READER, Facebook or Line.
How to scan the QR Code with Line application
= Open Line application and click on "Add friend"
=  Choose "QR Code"
= Scan the QR Code
2. Scan the QR Code to access documents regarding the meeting.
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As only one of my/our proxy to attend and vote on my/our behalf at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on Monday,
April 28, 2025 at 2.00 p.m. via electronic media or at any adjournment thereof to any other date, time and venue.
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As only one of my/our proxy to attend and vote on my/our behalf at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on Monday,

April 28, 2025 at 2.00 p.m. via electronic media or at any adjournment thereof to any other date, time and venue.
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I/we appoint my/our proxy to cast vote according to my/our intention in the following manner:

79Ei 1 SUNTIUNITuaadNanIsAEiuUlusatl 2567 uazsunsruseanuilszanil 2567
Agenda 1 To acknowledge the declaration of the 2024 operational results and the Company’s annual report year 2024.
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This agenda does not require any vote as this is to inform the shareholders for acknowledgement.
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Agenda 2 To approve the Statements of Financial Position and the Comprehensive Income Statements for the fiscal year ending
31 December 2024.
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The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
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The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
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Agenda 3 To approve the apportionment as statutory reserve fund from the 2024 operational results.
O Wiffuneudumeianinansnuazamdunudimdn ldnnisznismundiuanaag
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
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The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
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Agenda 4 To approve the dividend payment for the 2024 operational results.
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The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
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Agenda 5 To approve the appointment of directors in place of those who are due to retire by rotation for the year 2025.
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The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
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The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O @ennssuniama 4 vinu msfliaue

Vote for all 4 directors who are propose by the Company.

(1) wramasla waalaAINg
Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit
O wiugae O Liiugae O aneanides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
(2) wrAN GREY
Mrs. Duangmanee Sukhum
O wiude O Liviudae O sneenides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
(3) weitlaz dalaning
Mr. Piya Sosothikul
O wiugas O 1aduiugag O speenidas
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
(4) wrasen ANSITEESTN
Mr. Rafah Damrongchaitham
O wiugne O Livudae O sneenides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
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Agenda 6 To approve the remunerations of the Board of Directors and subcommittees for the year 2025.
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The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
U @ Wiuueudunzesndasasnzununumiulszasdaasdnidi fail
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O wiudne O Liviudae O sneenides

Agreed Disagreed Abstained
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Agenda 7 To approve the appointment of the auditors and the determination of the audit fee for the year 2025.
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The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
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The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O Sugae O iiugng O sneandes
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
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Agenda 8 Other matters. (if any)
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The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
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The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O $ugne O ifiugng O sneani@eas
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
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Casting of the vote by my/our Proxy for any agenda which is not in accordance with this Proxy Form shall be deemed an incorrect vote
and is not my/our vote as the shareholder.
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If I/'we have not indicated my/our vote in any agenda, or the indicated vote is unclear, or if the Meeting considers or resolves any matter
other than those stated above, or if there is any change or amendment to any fact, my/our proxy shall have the right to consider and cast
votes on my/our behalf in all respects as deems appropriate.

o o [y v

a dl v o o v 1 Nd‘ v o 1 al dl o A o v A '
ﬂ'ﬂﬂ’ﬁiﬂ‘wEiﬁ‘i.lN@U@u%tﬂiz%ﬁiﬂiuﬂqiﬂizﬁm VIULANTOUNG unaudunlieandesniundima iquuuum'w@u'ﬂum Tinaaiandn

i ldnszinesnnisznig
Any lawful act performed by my/our proxy in this Meeting, except in the case that my/our Proxy does not cast the votes as specified in the
Proxy Form, shall be deemed as my/our own act in all respects.

4 o . 4 2e .
AT HNALAUNE AT NIUNALAUNY
Signature  ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature  ( ) Proxy Holder

d‘ % o d‘ Yo o
AT NuaUAUNY AT NILNaUAUNY
Signature  ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature  ( ) Proxy Holder
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3. lunsdindanseiagiansaunlunisdseguunnndnonssiszylidneiu fuendunsansssyinmnldluludssadeuuumideseudunsuuy 1.
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Remarks:

1. The shareholder assigning the Proxy must authorize only one proxy to attend and vote at the meeting and shall not split the number of shares

to several proxies to vote separately.
2. For agenda relating to election of directors, the election may be for the entire group of directors or each individual director.

3. In case the Meeting considers any matters other than those specified above, the shareholder may mark additional statement in the regular

continued list attached to the Proxy Form B.
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Proxy Form B : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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luilszanFAauuUREIRANALDUNE LU A
Regular Continued Proxy Form B

msuau&uwﬂugﬂuxLﬂu;ﬁaﬁwm UFHN 1ABS U LAUAASINGE ANA (NUITU)
Authorization on Behalf of the Shareholder of The One Enterprise Public Company Limited
lunstlszguandfydieviu szt 2568 luTusuns 28 wnau 2568 1987 14.00 1. thudedidnnseiind (e-AGM)
viseTiazituaenliludi nan upzaouiauda
For the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on Monday April 28, 2025 at 2.00 p.m. via electronic media (e-AGM)
or at any adjournment thereof to any other date, time and venue.

a =
9N L3ag

Agenda Subject:
O () WiuueusunsiavsRiansanuazamaunudmd ldmnlssnsaufiiuaunns
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
O @ Wifuneudunzesni@evasnzusuniunnuszasdaasdnidn fail

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O e O lduiudag O snesnides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
M5 1529 ;
Agenda Subject:

UM  suweusunsdiavsfansanuazasiundmdn ldnndsznsmuiisiuasens
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
U@ Wduweusunzesn@asasnsiuunuauizasissdinda fil

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O iugae O ldwiudan O snesnides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
Nnaeh 1309 :
Agenda Subject:

O o WifuneusunsfaniAasunuarasiunudwdldnisznisananiiiuanaag
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
Y Vo o = 5 ¥ v o :
O @) ’lmmmuaummnmmmm:LLuumummﬂixmmmmwLm 25
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O iugae O ldwiudag O snesnides

Agreed Disagreed Abstained

fnidaaiusesiimenislululszansenuumidensudunzuuy 1 gndestdysaluaziuanuaimnilsznis
|/We certified that the information contained in this Regular Continued Proxy Form B is complete and true.

XGh fuauduny XGh fiusauduns
Signature ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature ( ) Proxy Holder
=) v o =) Yo o
AT @u@uauwx AT aﬁ‘umuaum
Signature ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature ( ) Proxy Holder
wilidenauduny wuu 2 : MelszniAnsnimungsnanisfnEes MuuanuLwiAeaneuduns (a1U7 5) w.A. 2550 N : 6/6

Proxy Form B : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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UEEN 1ne: Ju 1BunesTwsH FriA (uknwu) ANNTUA ﬂllﬂ
. - 20 U
LWUURUIADIHNAURUNG LLUU A i Duty Stamp
Proxy Form C i Affixed
(Baht 20)
wuuildiawznsaldtauiludamusilssmauasunsndinalameuludsamalnadudiudnuasguari)
(For foreign shareholders who have custodians in Thailand only)
o4
VIEIUN
Written at
dmidn R LAau A
I/We Date Month Year
e
Address L manziaugievu
Shareholders’
ArynA . Registration No.
Nationality K
Tugnuezdsznaugsiadugfulnuazgualiu (Custodian) Wiy
As the Custodian of
dadudieiures 15 ez A Wueesined Sim (NunTw) (‘USENY’)
Being a shareholder of The One Enterprise Public Company Limited (“the Company”)
Tnefatuansiyanuauisdusm i uazeani@enaspzunuldivingy Re
holding the Ordinary share in amount of shares, and eligible for
vanaLdunz1f (Nauaunzlales 1 Aw) (@nnranaudunslinssunisaaszaeatsemy lnafiseavidunnndaidannsae 4)
Hereby appoint (May grant proxy to the Company’s Independent Director of which details as in Enclosure 4)
WWAIFIN 130 e / waadla naaldaIng
Miss Suvabha Charoenying / Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit
O  nssunisdass (TUsadenives 1 vinw) 81¢] l
Independent Director (please choose only one) Age Years
agtnuani nuY FLIA / U9
Address Road Sub-District
A4N48 / L6 S L] soia ) srele] 94
District Province Zip Code
O we/ue/uean ang f
Mr. / Mrs. / Miss Age Years
agtnuani nuY FLIA / U9
Address Road Sub-District
A8 / 1A Faudm oia | seretlel R
District Province Zip Code
O we/ue/uean ang q
Mr. / Mrs. / Miss Age Years
aginuani U FLIA / U9
Address Road Sub-District
A8 / 1A Faudm oia | seretlel
District Province Zip Code

dl = a v v v Aﬂl ¥ a ¥ v o v ¥
AUNEIARlANEIALIAEA LﬂuHLLWu"ﬂ'ﬂ\ﬂHWL’QWLW@L“II’HJ??TJ]NLL@Z@@HL@ﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂzLLuuLmu“ﬂﬂWL@’]lu ﬂ’]ﬁ‘ﬂﬁ‘ﬁ"ﬂ]ﬂ@’? UHaal

szant 2568 luiudunsi 28 W 2568 1941 14.00 . tuBedidnnsafind munszsariinuadimenistsyguinudediannsaind w.a.

2563 vizanaziaaaullluiu an uazdanunausis
As only one of my/our proxy to attend and vote on my/our behalf at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on Monday

April 28, 2025 at 2.00 p.m. via electronic media according to the Emergency Decree on Electronic Meeting B.E. 2563 (2020) or at any

adjournment thereof to any other date, time and venue.

wilidenauduny wuu A : FnedssniAnsuimungsianisAnGes nMuuaLuLidanaudung (tuf 5) w.A. 2550 Wi 1/6
Proxy Form C : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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% % o Y Vo o Y = :// dgl o dgl
°]J’1‘1NL""V]ﬂ]'ﬂu'ﬂll'ﬂuwﬂﬂQTUN@U@HW&L‘H’W?QNﬂT:‘QNLL@:ﬂ’ﬂﬂL@Hﬁ@@ﬁtuuuluﬂi‘ﬂu AN
I/we appoint my/our proxy to cast vote according to my/our intention in the following manner:

o ° v & Ao Ao a a P
O HAUAUNZATNANUIUNUYNUNAN DD uazdianseandasainzuuuls
Appoint my/our proxy for all shares held and eligible to cast votes.

O seudunzunsdiau Ae fuanslny
Appoint my/our proxy for partial shares of: Ordinary share

v aa a =l v
U LR vianseendesasnzuuuls

al
AL

shares, eligible for

votes

v v v
o A o

k% v o Y Yar o = k% %
°1n‘wme'au'au'auwﬂu@‘iumuaum'ﬂ@ﬂmmmmmummumwwﬂumiﬂi:‘qumau AN
I/we appoint my/our proxy to cast vote according to my/our intention in the following manner:

Msri 1 Sunsrunisunasmamesiiunulusass] 2567 uazfunsusiaanuilsyail 2567
Agenda 1 To acknowledge the declaration of the 2024 operational results and the Company’s annual report year 2024
mi:ﬁvlziﬁ'm'a'aﬂLﬁmmmLLuuLﬁm@’mLﬂumm%’ﬂﬁé’ﬁﬂﬁu%umm
This agenda does not require any vote as this is to inform the shareholders for acknowledgement.
2sefi2  RarsonaysiBauansgiuznsduuassuilsmayuifingda dususanihing élﬂ;ﬂ o Fufi 31 Sunnay 2567
Agenda 2 To approve the Statements of Financial Position and the Comprehensive Income Statements for the fiscal year ending
31 December 2024.
O () Wduweusunsiansiansanuazasmiunudwdnldvnusensmudfuaunas
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
O @ Wifuueusunzesndeasasnzunununiiulszasdaasdinidn fail
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O wingas O Tadwiugan O apeenidas
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
M52dl 3 AansanayiBsnassdumlsdounisliifluyudsasmunguinaainuanisaniunuil 2567
Agenda 3 To approve the apportionment as statutory reserve fund from the 2024 operational results.
O Sl,ﬁpﬁumm‘fumﬁam%ﬁmimﬁLL@:@W?}LW‘}T’]WLf-’i’ﬁ"l,é’nﬂﬂi:mimuﬁLﬁuzwms
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
O @ Wiuueusunzasndasasnzuuumuaiiulszasraasdingn fail
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O wingas O Taduiugan O apeeni@as
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
nge 4 NarsanaydRastuilunadvsunanisaniluanuil 2567
Agenda 4 To approve the dividend payment for the 2024 operational results.
O  dsumeusunsiangansanuazasmimnudwdnldvnussnsmudlifuaunas
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
O @ Wiueudunzesnidasaspzununmuauszassaasdmid il

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O iudae O sifiugne O sneani@es

Agreed Disagreed Abstained

wilidenauduny wuu A : FnedssniAnsuimungsianisAnGes nMuuaLuLidanaudung (tuf 5) w.A. 2550

Proxy Form C : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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PN a wm . O a o ° . o =
M9eN 5 NRIFTAUIBUYNALLFNPNNTTNNITUNUNTTNNTITNATUNINUABBNIINATLUUIATININGS 1lszanil 2568

Agenda 5 To approve the appointment of directors in place of those who are due to retire by rotation for the year 2025.

NG WSunausumedanitarsaunuazasuiunudimid dnnilsznisauiiiuaunag

The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.

o

O @ Wunausunraani@esasnziuuniuaulszasfasiimg 6l

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O @ennssuniang 4 viau asdiiaue

Vote for all 4 directors who are propose by the Company.

(1) wmaala waalAAINg
Mrs. Duangjai Lorlertwit
L wiuse O ldifiusiae O apeenidas
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
(2) WNANNH GREY
Mrs. Duangmanee Sukhum
L wiuse O ldifiusae O apeenidas
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
(3) weilae dalaning
Mr. Piya Sosothikul
O wiugae O iviuse O aneenides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
4) wnaszi ANSITEETTN
Mr. Rafah Damrongchaitham
O wiuge O iviudne O sneenides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained

= a am ° ' a o . o o
298N 6 wmsmmgummimuuﬂmmauLmumuxnssumsmwwu,axﬂm:niiumﬂlmﬂaﬂmuinﬂ 2568

Agenda 6 To approve the remunerations of the Board of Directors and subcommittees for the year 2025.

a

O WiSunausumsianitarsnuazasuiuudimidn ldnnisznismuidiuauaag
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
v e o = - 1y -1
O @) Tugiumuaum@@ﬂmmmﬂ:LLuummmmﬂim\m%\imwmﬁ NS
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O iudne O iiugos O sneani@es

Agreed Disagreed Abstained

M 7 NArsanayNBmMsuanigaautinduazinuasauiinddiusuil 2568

Agenda 7 To approve the appointment of the auditors and the determination of the audit fee for the year 2025.

O ) Wuueudunziidnifasanuarasdunudindnldnndsensmuifiuaunns
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
O @ Wiuneusunzesn@esasnzisununiulsyasmaasdindn fall

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O iugne O iiugon O sneani@es
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
wilidenauduny wuu A : FnedssniAnsuimungsianisAnGes nMuuaLuLidanaudung (tuf 5) w.A. 2550 i : 3/6

Proxy Form C : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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Mg 8 15R9Au Y (418)
Agenda 8 Other matters. (if any)

O () WiFuweudunsdandfansnnuazamaunudmidildynlssnnsmamifiuaunis
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
U @ Iifsuseusunzeandasaazununupinulsyassaesdanidn feil
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
L e L ladifiugae [ snaanides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained

2=y

neasnzuudessasfiuneudunslunnsslan diduldmadssy i lumi@ensudunyll Waedinisasnzuuudeaiu ligndes wazldldidu

nsasazuudearesimdn lugusdieriu
Casting of the vote by my/our Proxy for any agenda which is not in accordance with this Proxy Form shall be deemed an incorrect vote
and is not my/our vote as the shareholder.

=

Tunsdlndwidn ldldsrypnulszasdluniseani@esasnzuunluaiselald wdessy 3 lidaau vide lunsainfdsyguinisfiansun videsni lu

Yo

o = 4 o ve o = ada < 4 2 Ay @ o v o as aa
Li‘ﬂﬂmu@ﬂmummLimmzqhm\mu sauanstinfinisud i deuudawviraiiuindamaaselsznisla 1‘1)1Hiumuaummmmw'ﬂﬁm%mz
asAunud i laynlsznsananiuanags

If I/'we have not indicated my/our vote in any agenda, or the indicated vote is unclear, or if the Meeting considers or resolves any matter

other than those stated above, or if there is any change or amendment to any fact, my/our proxy shall have the right to consider and cast
votes on my/our behalf in all respects as deems appropriate.

o

a dl Yo o o % 1 Nd‘ v o 1 al dl ¥ v o A o v A !
ﬂ'ﬂﬂ’ﬁimﬂEiﬁ“].lNﬂufilu%tﬂi?éwqiﬂiuﬂ’]i‘ﬂi‘qu VIULANTOUNG um'au'aum"l,m'aﬂmemwmwLmaquuuu\immu'ﬂum Tinaaiandn

¥ v v °
i ldnssineanilsznig

Any lawful act performed by my/our proxy in this Meeting, except in the case that my/our Proxy does not cast the votes as specified in the

Proxy Form, shall be deemed as my/our own act in all respects.

4 o . 4 2e .
AN HHEALAUNS ANTA HILNAURUNS
Signature  ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature  ( ) Proxy Holder

4 o . 4 2e .
AT HNALAUNE AT NIUNALAUNY
Signature  ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature  ( ) Proxy Holder

UNEILUB:

1.

' v
v = o o

wideneudunzuuy a. UldanznsaiignefuntsngielunsdawdudamuidssmauazusieisWaalnbeu (Custodian) Tutlszmelne
dufudnuazguaiulivinni

o dl ¥ v o o 4 o A
mngmwmmLLuuwmmuummmuaum AR

v Yo

(1) wil@eneusiunaaingtedfuliaalnpan (Custodian) Wuganfiunisasnslumidensudunzinu

a

(2) widetuduindawnlunideseudunzunulafuaynymlsznaugsia Aalaaeu (Custodian)

Vo Vo

v 9 A o > o o o = = Y = \ \ o v q
Qa@ﬁuwmuﬂuwmmmmuﬂuwﬂugi‘um@u%u‘mmej‘wmeLﬂugmﬂﬂﬁ‘:ﬂ;mLL@Z@@ﬂmmmmLLuu VLstmﬁ‘mLmLLﬂﬂmmuwﬂWim

UAUSUNTUNAE AUANDLENNITAIAT LA LS

ITRBNFINITNNNT AINNTLAENAINITNNNIATRIAeNAINgTHNTTu By AAA

Tunsdindanseiaziansanlunisdssguuinndnniseissylidnesiu fueudunsaansassyinminla wludssaseuuumildeneu dunzuuy

A. ATHLLLL
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Remarks:

1. This Proxy Form C. is used only in case of shareholder whose name appears in the registration book as a foreign investor and has
appointed a Custodian in Thailand as a custodian.

2. Evidence which must be attached with the Proxy are:
(1) Power of attorney from shareholder assigning the custodian to execute the proxy on his/her behalf.
(2) A document confirming that the custodian has the permission to conduct the custodian business.

3. The shareholder assigning the Proxy must authorize only one proxy to attend and vote at the meeting and shall not split the number of

shares to several proxies to vote separately.

4. For agenda relating to election of directors, the election may be for the entire group of directors or each individual director.
5. In case the Meeting considers any matters other than those specified above, the shareholder may mark additional statement in the regular

continued list attached to the Proxy Form C.

wilidenauduny wuu A : FnedssniAnsuimungsianisAnGes nMuuaLuLidanaudung (tuf 5) w.A. 2550 i : 5/6
Proxy Form C : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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TudszafAanUUNTNAaNALRUNE WU A
Regular Continued Proxy Form C

msuau&uwﬂugﬂuxLﬂu;ﬁaﬁwm UFHN 1ABS U LAUAASINGE ANA (NUITU)
Authorization on Behalf of the Shareholder of The One Enterprise Public Company Limited
lunstlszguandfydieviu szt 2568 luTusuns 28 wnau 2568 1987 14.00 1. thudedidnnseiind (e-AGM)
viseTiazituaenliludi nan upzaouiauda
For the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on Monday, April 28, 2025 at 2.00 p.m. via electronic media (e-AGM)
or at any adjournment thereof to any other date, time and venue.

a =
9N L3ag

Agenda Subject:
O () WiuueusunsiavsRiansanuazamaunudmd ldmnlssnsaufiiuaunns
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
O @ Wifuneudunzesni@evasnzusuniunnuszasdaasdnidn fail

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O e O lduiudag O snesnides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
M5 1529 ;
Agenda Subject:

UM  suweusunsdiavsfansanuazasiundmdn ldnndsznsmuiisiuasens
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
U@ Wduweusunzesn@asasnsiuunuauizasissdinda fil

The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.

O iugae O ldwiudan O snesnides
Agreed Disagreed Abstained
Nnaeh 1309 :
Agenda Subject:

O o WifuneusunsfaniAasunuarasiunudwdldnisznisananiiiuanaag
The proxy holder shall vote independently as to his/her consideration.
Y Vo o = 5 ¥ v o :
O @) ’lmmmuaummnmmmm:LLuumummﬂixmmmmwLm 25
The proxy holder shall vote according to my / our following instruction.
O iugae O ldwiudag O snesnides

Agreed Disagreed Abstained

faidaaiusesiimenislulutlszarsanuumidesaudunzuuy a gnaaniysaluasuaaiuasmnisynig
|/We certified that the information contained in this Regular Continued Proxy Form C is complete and true.

XGh fuauduny XGh fiusauduns
Signature ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature ( ) Proxy Holder
=) v o =) Yo o
AT @u@uauwx AT aﬁ‘umuaum
Signature ( ) Proxy Grantor Signature ( ) Proxy Holder
wilidenauduny wuu A : FnedssniAnsuimungsianisAnGes nMuuaLuLidanaudung (tuf 5) w.A. 2550 N : 6/6

Proxy Form C : According to the Announcement of Department of Business Development Re: Form of Proxy (No. 5) B.E. 2550
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Document for attending 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders by Electronic Method (E-AGM)

Ordinary Person

1.

In case the shareholders attend the meeting by themselves.

Valid evidence that issue by government authorities, e.g., the identification card, government
officer identification card, driver license or passport, including the evidence of hame or last
name’s change (if any).

In case of granting proxy holder.

2.1 One of the proxy forms as attached to the notice to shareholders, completely filled in and
signed by shareholder and proxy.

2.2 Certified true copy of valid evidence of the shareholder as specified in item 1.

2.3 Certified true copy of valid evidence of the proxy as specified in item 1.

Juristic Person

1.

In case of shareholder’s representative (director) attend the meeting by themselves.

1.1 The identification document of such authorized representative similar to those of ordinary
person as specified in item 1.

1.2 Copy of shareholder’s Affidavit not over three months, and certify by the authorized
director showing that the authorized director has the authority to act on behalf of the
shareholder.

In case of shareholder appoint proxy holder
2.1 One of the proxy forms as attached to the notice to shareholders, completely filled in and
signed by the authorized director of shareholder and proxy.

2.2 Copy of shareholder’s Affidavit not over three months, and certify by the authorized
director showing that such authorized director signing the proxy form has the authority to
act on behalf of the shareholder.

2.3 Certified true copy of valid evidence issued by government authorities of the authorized
director signing the proxy form.
2.4  Certified true copy of valid evidence of the proxy issued by government authorities similar
to those of individual shareholder specified in item1.
In case of Foreign Shareholder appointing a Custodian in Thailand
3.1 All evidence similar to those of the Juristic Person as specified in items 1 or 2.
3.2 In case the foreign shareholder authorizes the custodian to sign the proxy form on its
behalf, the following documents are required:
1) Power of Attorney by foreign shareholder authorizing custodian to sign the proxy form
on its behalf.
2) Letter certifying that such custodian signing the proxy form has the permission to
engage in the custodian business. In case the original documents are not in English, it
shall be translated to the English language and certified true and correct translation by

the shareholder (in case of ordinary person) or the authorized representative of
shareholder (in case of juristic person).

** By the Company will not make a request for additional document or creating an undue burden to the
shareholders (ex. undefined to use the shareholder’s the ID card of proxy, specify in addition to the
documents or the circular letter formal related) **

Guideline for Proxy Preparation

The Company has provided 3 proxy forms: Form A/ Form B / Form C prescribed by the

Department of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce to be used in the following cases:

Form A: simple and general proxy form
Form B: specific proxy form
Form C: proxy form for foreign shareholder appointing the custodian in Thailand

Page 1 of 2
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The shareholder who is not able to attend the Meeting may appoint the proxy as follows:
1. Select only one of the three forms provided above as follows:
1.1 General shareholder shall select only one of either Form A or Form B.

1.2 Shareholder listed in the share register book as foreign shareholder appointing the
custodian in Thailand can select only one of the three proxy forms.

2. Authorize a person or an Independent Director to attend and vote at the Meeting on your behalf
by specifying the name with details of a person to be your proxy or marking in front of the name
of an Independent Director to be your proxy.

3. Affix the 20 Baht stamp duty and specify the date on the proxy form.
4, The shareholder may send the completed proxy form together with the above documentation to
the Head Office of the Company at:

1) Email: CS@onee.one and
2) (Original document) Postal delivery:
Attention to: “Company Secretary (Floor 15)”
Address: No. The One Enterprise Public Company Limited
50 GMM Grammy PLACE, Sukhumvit 21 Rd. (Asoke),
Khlongtoeinuea, Vadhana, Bangkok 10110, Thailand
No later than 5.00 p.m. (Thailand time) on April 24, 2025 so that officers of the Company are given
enough time to check the documentation. Spilt of shares to several proxies to vote in the meeting is not
allowed. Shareholder shall authorize the proxy holder to cast the votes equal to the total number of

shares held by shareholder. Authorizing less than the total number of shares is not allowed except for
the custodian appointed by foreign shareholder in accordance with proxy form C.

Meeting Registration

The registrations for attending the meeting will be opened at 13.00 hours on Monday, April 28, 2025 via
Teleconference of Electronic Device (Only) by broadcasting live at the Company's headquarters.

Vote

Voting Process
1. The chairman of the meeting shall propose the shareholders to cast their votes for each agenda.

2. Only shareholders desiring to cast their votes as disapproval or abstention are required to mark
in a box as disapproval or abstention, for counting with the system.

3. Shareholders, who cast votes as approval or do not indicate any mark on the box, will be assumed
to have approved the agenda as proposed by the Chairman. They do not have to check any box.

Vote Counting Procedures

1. One share shall be counted as one vote and the majority of the votes shall be deemed a resolution,
except as specified otherwise by law. In case of a tie of votes, the Chairman shall have cast a deciding
vote.

2. In order to count the vote results for each agenda, the Company will count only the votes as
disapproval and abstentions and deduct from the total votes of shareholders and proxies recorded in
advance.

3. The voting results for each agenda will be announced for votes as approval, disapproval, and
abstention based on the latest number of shares held by attendants in the meeting.
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Manual to Attend the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for the year 2025
and voting through Electronic means (E-AGM) by IR PLUS AGM Application

Prior to register for attending the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for year 2025
through Electronic means (E-AGM) via Mobile application or Web application IR PLUS AGM, please
download the IR Plus AGM Application or visit the web application https://webagm.irplus.in.th/ and

obtain an Application manual from:

= L]
2 Available on the GETITON ;
]
]
]

.E @& App Store Google Pl

Scan for download IR Plus AGM Application Scan for download IR Plus AGM Application

IOS version 15 up Android version 9

Scan for download IR Plus AGM application manual / web application manual / Video
Demonstration for registration and attending the 2025 E-AGM

The registration and self-identification processes are depicted below. When shareholders register or

grant proxies via E-AGM and receive E-AGM attendance confirmation from the system, it should be noted

that voting must be done via the mobile application or web application https://webagm.irplus.in.th only.:


https://webagm.irplus.in.th/
https://webagm.irplus.in.th/
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Steps for Shareholders / Proxy Holders

to Verify Identity (KYC) through the System
For Shareholders Attending Assigning Proxy to the
the Meeting in Person — “Independent Director”

1. Prepare the invitation letter issued by TSD, ID card,
or passport.

2. Select the company you wish to attend the meeting
with or search for the Stock Symbol.

Select the menu: "Proxy”

Scan the QR code issued by TSD to log in to the Prepare documents: A copy of the ID card and
system or log in using your ID card number the proxy form. Select the name of the

or passport number to proceed with identity Independent Director to assign as the proxy.
verification (KYC).

Upload the ID card copy and proxy form. Ensure all
documents are complete, then click "Confirm®

Submit in odvance, at least 1 day before the meeting.

Enter your phone Fill in personal information

and uplead a photo to
number and email to ata identity

verify your identity via verification (KYC)
the ThaiD app. and registration.

Set a 6-digit Pincode
to access the IR PLUS AGM system.
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Steps for Shareholders / Proxy Holders

to Verify Identity (KYC) through the System
Assigning Proxy to the Proxy Holder Attending
“Independent Director” the Meeting
Select the menu "Proxy-Direct" Select the menu "Proxy-Direct”

"Proxy Holder” logs in with their ID card number
to complete the identity verification (KYC) process
for meeting attendance.

The "Shareholder” logs in with their ID to authorize
the “Independent Director”

Prepare documents: A copy of the ID card for both
the "Shareholder” and the "Proxy Holder” along with
the completed proxy form. If applicable, include

Prepare documents: A copy of your ID card

and the completed proxy form.

company representative details.

Select "Independent Director”
Choose the name of the Independent Director

Select "Other Names"
Enter the information for the "Proxy Holder"

to assign as your proxy.

Upload documents Upload the ID card copy and
completed proxy form. Ensure all documents
are complete, then click "Confirm" and proceed

Upload documents: Upload the ID card copies for both

the “Shareholder” and the "Proxy Holder,” along with

the completed proxy form. Ensure all documents are
complete, then click "Confirm" to proceed with the

with the process.

Set a 6-digit Pincode Set a 6-digit Pincode
to access the IR PLUS AGM system. to access the IR PLUS AGM system.

On the meeting day, shareholders/proxy holders log in to the IR PLUS AGM
system and enter the 6-digit Pincode to register for the meeting.

Meeting on Web App
“webagm.irplus.in.th”
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Documents used for registration and self-verification are as follows:

1. In case shareholder wishes to attend the meeting by himself/herself

Notification of Meeting with barcode representing securities holder number (if any) to
be used for scanning instead of having to fill in the identity card number. Otherwise,
shareholder has to fill in the identity card number or passport number (passport
number must be the same as recorded in the shareholders data base from Thailand
Securities Depository Co., Ltd.)

Photo of identity card or passport which has not expired

2. In case shareholder appoints the Independent director to attend and vote at the meeting on your

behalf.

Notification of Meeting with barcode representing securities holder number (if any) to be used
for scanning instead of having to fill in the identity card number. Otherwise, shareholder has to
fill in the identity card number or passport number (passport number must be the same as
recorded in the shareholders data base from Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.)

A proxy form which has been completed and executed

A copy of the identity card, or passport of the Principal which has not expired, certified true

and correct by the Principal

3. In case shareholder appoints a person to attend and vote at the meeting on your behalf.

Notification of Meeting with barcode representing securities holder number (if any) to be used
for scanning instead of having to fill in the identity card number. Otherwise, shareholder has to
fill in the identity card humber or passport number (passport number must be the same as
recorded in the shareholders data base from Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.)
A proxy form which has been completed and executed
A copy of the identity card, or passport of the Principal which has not expired, certified true
and correct by the Principal
Identity card or passport of the proxy which has not expired
Additional document for shareholder who is a juristic person
O A copy of the certification document of the Principal backdated not more than six
months, certified true and correct by an authorized person(s) of that juristic person

and affixed with company’s seal (if any)

Attending the Meeting and Voting through the Mobile or Web Application IR Plus AGM

1.

The right to attend and cast votes at the meeting through the mobile or web application is
exclusive for each shareholder and proxy. One username may not be able to login to the
application simultaneously on several devices. Therefore, the shareholders or proxies must
use the username and pin code to attend the meeting themselves,

In the case that one person is appointed as a proxy by several shareholders, the proxy may

attend the meeting for one shareholder per one device only.
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3. Atthe commencement of the meeting, shareholders or proxies may cast their votes through
the mobile or web application on every agenda item in advance, or cast their votes during the
consideration of that particular agenda item. The system will count the votes until the end of
each agenda item.

4. Invoting count, the number of votes against or votes abstain (if any) would be deducted from
the total number of votes of shareholders attending the meeting, or of shareholders who have
voting right, as the case may be, thus, the rest would be the number of votes agree.

5. Inthe case that a shareholder or proxy logs out from the Application before voting for any
agenda item, the shareholder or proxy will not be counted as part of the quorum for that
agenda item and the votes of such shareholder or proxy will not be counted in that agenda.
However, if a shareholder or proxy logs out from any agenda item, the right to log in into the
meeting and vote for the remaining agenda items shall not be prejudiced.

Raising Questions and Expressing Opinions during the Meeting

1. The meeting will be broadcasted through the mobile or web application only. In order to
ensure that the meeting shall be conducted smoothly, in the case that a shareholder or proxy
has any question or would like to express his or her opinion on any agenda item, the
shareholder or proxy can choose the question make icon on the screen to submit questions or
to express an opinion in the system. The system will arrange the questions and opinions by
the order of time requested. Questions asked and opinions expressed must be related to the
agenda items being considered.

2. During the meeting, if any shareholder or proxy acts in any way that interferes with the
meeting or causes annoyance to other attendees, the Company reserves the right to take any
action in order to suppress the action that interferes with the meeting or causing annoyance to
other attendees.

Other Reguirements

1. Video and audio contents of the meeting are the sole intellectual property of the Company and
the Company does not permit any shareholders or proxies to record, modify or publish video
and audio at the meeting. The Company reserves the right to take legal action against those
who do so.

2. Inthe event that shareholders or proxies use any system related to the meeting through IR
PLUS AGM in any way which does not comply with this requirement, or other manuals that
the Company has provided to the shareholders for use in supporting the meeting and it
causes damage to the Company in any way, such shareholders or proxies shall indemnify and
hold the Company harmless in full from and against the damages and costs resulting from
claim and litigation by any third party, including claim and litigation by the Company against
such shareholders and/or proxies who causes such damage.

3. The Company reserves the right to undertake any act in the case that any shareholder does
not comply with this Processes and Guidelines, and may suspend the shareholder’s right to
attend the meeting through the Application if, during the meeting, the shareholders or proxies

fail to comply with this Processes and Guidelines.
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If a shareholder has any problem about the registration process,
please contact the IR Plus call center
At 02-022-6200 ext. 2 or 626

or Line ID : @irplusagm or scan QR

@
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The One Enterprise Public Company Limited

50 GMM Grammy Place, Sukhumvit 21 Rd. (Asoke),
Khlongtoeinuea, Wattana, Bangkok 10110, Thailand

Tel: (66) 2669-9712

www.theoneenterprise.com
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